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Chairman’s
Letter
Dear Shareholders,
It is with pleasure that I present Eagle Mountain
Mining Limited’s fourth Annual Report. Following
the purchase in late 2019 of the Oracle Ridge copper
project in Arizona, the Company has taken a number of
important steps to enhance the value of this asset.
Our belief that the Oracle Ridge Project was a quality
acquisition due to its location, existing high-grade copper
resource and multiple exploration targets, has in my view,
been proven correct as a result of the excellent work
undertaken by the Eagle Mountain Mining team based in
Perth and Tucson.
In August 2020, major US based international drill company,
Boart Longyear was appointed to undertake the extensive
drilling programme planned for Oracle Ridge, beginning
with one rig. As new prospective targets were identified, two
additional rigs were brought into operation.

4
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In December 2020, the Company announced a JORC
(2012) Mineral Resource Estimate at Oracle Ridge
of 12.2Mt at 1.51% Cu, 16.3g/t Ag and 0.19g/t Au
for 184kt Cu, 6.4Moz Ag and 73koz of Au (Indicated
and Inferred at 1.0% Cu cut-off). It was noted that
scope existed for a larger resource dependant on
cut-off grade and commodity prices. Moreover,
drill results from areas outside the JORC Resource
area indicated significant potential to expand the
resource footprint.
In February 2021, the Company acquired the
remaining 20% interest in the Oracle Ridge
Project held by Vincere Resource Holdings Inc.
This added some 81 million pounds of copper to
Eagle Mountain’s attributable copper in the JORC
Resources.
As explained in last year’s Annual Report, our goal is
to further build on the existing high-grade mineral
resource to support an attractive mine life while
maximising the production rates necessary to
minimise mining unit costs. To this end, an extensive
amount of drilling has been undertaken over the
past year, to build on the understanding of the
complex geological structures not only at Oracle
Ridge proper but also the surrounding ground.
So encouraging has been the results of this work,
that the Company staked new claims to more than
double the landholding.

Needless to say, it has been a very busy period for
the Eagle Mountain team, led by our Managing
Director Charles Bass and CEO Tim Mason in Perth
and supported by Manuel Ramos in Tucson as CEO
of US Operations. The team have safely executed
this work to a high standard during challenging
times, not only due to COVID 19 restrictions but also
some adverse weather conditions.
On behalf of the Directors, I would like to thank the
Eagle Mountain team in Perth and Arizona for their
work on both the Oracle Ridge and Silver Mountain
Projects. My thanks also to my fellow Director, Roger
Port, for his diligence and expertise on financial
and strategic issues and to Company Secretary,
Mark Pitts, for his corporate and governance
support during an active period of acquisition and
fundraising.
Next year again promises to be very active and
exciting for the Company and I thank shareholders
for their ongoing support.

Yours faithfully

Rick Crabb
Chairman
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Managing
Director’s
Letter
Dear Fellow Shareholders,
I am extremely proud of our extraordinarily
professional staff, consultants and contractors,
both in Perth and Arizona. In the face of fires, floods,
snowstorms and lighting storms, they continue to
unlock the true value at the Oracle Ridge copper mine
and its surrounds.
I am extremely excited by the potential that I see being
unlocked in the larger Oracle Ridge area. This potential was
a key motivation for me to strike an extremely beneficial
agreement with Vincere Holdings in 2019 for an 80% interest
in the project. Even though we have not yet unlocked the
true secrets of what lies below, we were encouraged to strike
a deal this year with Vincere for their remaining 20% interest
for the issue of 10 million shares of EM2. Not only was it a
relatively low cost acquisition for their share of the contained
copper, silver and gold, but all future discoveries are 100% to
the benefit of Eagle Mountain shareholders.

6
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You might ask why I feel so optimistic by what I see.
In the early 1980s, I spent about a year in Tucson
working on the geology and resource definition
at the Twin Buttes porphyry copper mine. As
with almost all copper mines in the southwest US
and Mexico that are considered “porphyry”. Twin
Buttes started mining skarn mineralisation before
further mineralisation was discovered. There
were zones of quite good grade and large zones
of lesser grade material that were all cut up by
faulting and intrusions. The same host limestone
rocks that become skarnified occur throughout the
southwest. Many of the mines include various styles
of mineralisation including polymetallic veining,
skarn, breccia hosted and peripheral gold in both
sedimentary and porphyry rocks. The peripheral
gold zones were sometimes mined by original
pioneers and we have such gold occurrences in our
local area.

will need to establish a potential “centre of gravity”
that accounts for a much larger operation that
could encompass Golden Eagle, OREX and even Red
Hawk. This means that we need to know where to
put an initial milling operation and allow for future
expansion, but also for tailings disposal. These are
nice problems to have, but we need to be patient to
make sure that everything is done to maximise the
fullest value out of our potential and minimise our
risk.

Most, if not all, of the hallmarks of the various
“porphyry” copper mines across the southwest
US are being recognised at and near Oracle Ridge
copper mine.

Yours faithfully

We have several fronts that we are and will be
working on to unlock this potential. Even though we
will be working on areas such as metallurgical and
mining studies at the existing Oracle Ridge mine, we

To demonstrate my belief in the potential of the
Oracle Ridge project, I was very happy to convert
my $US1 million of debt to the Company into shares
at a premium to the share price at the time. More
recently, I was pleased to subscribe for another
$1million worth of shares during our September
2021 fund raise.

Charles Bass
Managing Director
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CEO Letter
Dear Fellow Shareholders,
I am pleased to report on what has been an
outstanding year of growth and achievement for
Eagle Mountain. I am incredibly proud of what our
team has delivered, despite navigating the various
challenges of COVID-19, the wettest monsoon in
Tucson since 1964, and extensive wildfires around our
Oracle Ridge project over the last year.
Our vision is to become a low-emission producer of copper
which is vital for decarbonisation of the global economy.
Most analysts are anticipating shortfalls in global copper
supply due to increasing demand and limited supply
response; both of which support forecasts for higher
copper prices, especially beyond 2025. This is a great time
to be growing our copper inventory ahead of these strong
predictions.
We see strong potential for significantly more mineralisation
to be discovered at and around the Oracle Ridge mine, due
to its striking geological similarities with other major deposits
in Arizona. Our exploration activities over the last year have
focused on developing models to vector towards prospective
areas, and we now have multiple quality targets including
Golden Eagle, OREX and Red Hawk.

8
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The year has seen a rapid expansion of the team
and activities in Arizona. We undertook extensive
geophysics over the larger Oracle Ridge area
and more than doubled our land holdings over
the last year as we discovered more prospective
areas around the mine. We defined a maiden
JORC Resource, and we now have three diamond
drills turning on a full-time basis with the aim of
expanding these Resources. We have undertaken
full suites of geochemistry on the core which
provide us with a far greater insight to the geology
of the project and vectoring towards prospective
areas.
The acquisition of the remaining 20% of Oracle
Ridge was affectively an additional 81 million
pounds of copper at an acquisition price of US$0.10/
lb. This was an advantageous move that simplifies
operations and administration ahead of further
growth of the Project. We now have a team of 22
employees in Arizona, including Manuel Ramos who
was the former President of ASARCO, one of the
largest copper producers in Arizona. Recently, the
team moved into a larger office and core logging
facility in Tucson to support the expanded activities
and planned growth of the Company.
Earlier in the year, a large wildfire on the Santa
Catalina Mountains threatened many homes and
caused multiple evacuations. Our Oracle Ridge
project was very close to these fires and the local
fire department used our facilities as a base for
helicopter water bombers. Our team worked
tirelessly setting up pumps and waterlines to assist
the fire department in one of the worst wildfires in
the history of the Catalina Mountains. We were lucky
that none of our infrastructure was damaged and I
am proud we could assist the local community at a
time when it was needed most.
Our exploration activities and potential mining
operation will have a strong focus on minimising our
environmental footprint. We will evaluate the use
of electric mining equipment, as opposed to diesel
equipment, to reduce emissions which will further
reduce power requirements for ventilation. Future
mining studies will consider the extensive energy-

saving benefits of gravity as our Resources are
located at an elevated position.
Our exploration activities will continue with a
two-pronged approach. Firstly, we will continue to
hunt for a larger mineralised system, potentially
far larger than what has been defined thus far.
Secondly, we will continue to grow and upgrade
our existing JORC resources to a critical size that
supports a reasonable minelife with strong annual
production rates. Prior to potentially recommencing
mining operations at Oracle Ridge, we believe that
it’s vital to build our mineral resources to de-risk
this decision and ensure the mine and plant are
designed appropriately. To support future mining
studies, we will undertake metallurgical test work
and other studies in parallel with the resource
expansion to enable a faster transition to mining.
Our Silver Mountain Copper Project remains a highly
prospective greenfields project however, following
the exploration success in the last year, we will
continue to focus on further building our resource
base at Oracle Ridge in the coming year. We will look
to recognise further value in Silver Mountain, either
from ongoing geological investigations or bringing in
other groups to assist with exploration activities.
Over the last year, we have built an enthusiastic
team, driven by shared values to find the copper
the world desperately needs to reduce carbon
emissions. I believe we are well positioned for
significant growth with a high-quality team and an
attractive asset base. I would like to thank all our
dedicated board, employees, contractors, business
partners and shareholders for their contributions to
our Company over the last year.

Yours faithfully

Tim Mason
Chief Executive Officer
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Vision

10

To become a low-emission
producer of copper which
is vital for decarbonisation
of the global economy
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FY2021
Highlights
• Maiden JORC Resource estimate calculated at 12.2 Mt at 1.51%
Cu,16.3G/t Ag and 0.19g/t Au based on historical holes only.
• Strong exploration results with a focus on resource expansion.
• Multiple new exploration targets were defined including OREX,
the Talon and Golden Eagle.
• Accelerated drilling program successfully commenced, now
with three diamond drills rigs operating on a full-time basis.
• Moved to 100% ownership of Oracle Ridge. This included a
further 81 million pounds of copper at an effective acquisition
price of US$0.10/lb Cu.
• Landholding at Oracle Ridge more than doubled.
• Supported the local community and fire departments during
wildfires on the Santa Catalina Mountains.
• Appointed Manuel Ramos as CEO in the US. Mr Ramos was the
former President of ASARCO, a major copper producer in Arizona.
• Well supported capital raisings which generated $20m in new
capital.
• Eagle Mountain Mining awarded the Deloitte High Growth Award
for 2021.
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Review of
Operations

Portal and core shed at Oracle Ridge

Review of Operations
Eagle Mountain Mining Limited (“Eagle Mountain”, “Company”) owns 100% of the Oracle Ridge and
Silver Mountain projects in Arizona, a Tier 1 mining jurisdiction 1 which hosts many large copper
mines and projects operated by major mining companies including BHP, Rio Tinto, FreeportMcMoran, Asarco, Hudbay and South 32. The Company’s projects are prospective for both highgrade copper-silver-gold mineralization and large-scale copper systems. Activities during the year
focused primarily on the Oracle Ridge Project.
Eagle Mountain’s vision is to become a low-emission producer of copper which is vital for
decarbonisation of the global economy. It is planned that future mining operations will have a
strong focus on reducing emissions by using battery or electric powered mining equipment and
sourcing or producing renewable energy where possible. At Oracle Ridge, the project benefits
from its resource being located on a hill so the use of gravity as part of the mine design could
further reduce energy consumption which also reduces emissions. Many countries have renewed
targets for decarbonisation of their economies and copper is a key metal for reducing the use of
fossil fuels. We are driven by our vision to supply the copper for a greener global future, but also
to supply that copper via a low-emission process.

1Arizona

is ranked 3th in the world by the Fraser Institute for mining investment attractiveness
https://www.fraserinstitute.org/sites/default/files/annual-survey-of-mining-companies-2019.pdf
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Oracle Ridge Copper Project (100%)
Summary
The Oracle Ridge Copper Mine is located northeast of Tucson and 26 kilometres from BHP’s San
Manuel mine, once the largest underground mine in the USA. The site is easily accessible by road
and is supported by a nearby railway and copper smelters in the state. Figure 1 shows the location
of the Oracle Ridge copper project.

Figure 1 - Location of Oracle Ridge Copper Project

The Oracle Ridge Copper Mine is an advanced stage exploration project with a high-grade copper
resource with significant gold and silver. Mineralization at Oracle Ridge is skarn hosted which is
common at many other porphyry deposits in Arizona. The source of the mineralisation at Oracle
Ridge has not been found and it remains a key exploration opportunity.
The project benefits from 18 kilometres of existing underground development in very good
condition along with other supporting infrastructure.
During the year, the Company completed a maiden JORC Mineral Resource Estimate (“MRE”) of
12.2Mt at 1.51% Cu, 16.3g/t Ag and 0.19g/t Au for 184kt Cu, 6.4Moz Ag and 73koz of Au (Indicated
and Inferred at 1.0% Cu cut-off) (refer ASX announcement 14 December 2020). This resource
estimate was based solely on existing historical drillholes and does not incorporate any of the
holes drilled by the Company.
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During the year, the Company moved to 100% ownership of the Oracle Ridge Copper Mine
(“Oracle Ridge”) after buying out joint venture partner, Vincere Resource Holdings LLC. The
Company acquired the remaining 20% ownership from Vincere Holdings LLC in mid-2021 for the
issue of 10 million shares, which was effectively an additional 81 million pounds of copper at an
acquisition price of US$0.10/lb Cu in JORC Resources. More significantly, it provided 100%
exposure to exploration success and it dissolved the joint venture simplifying project operations
and administration (refer announcement 30 April 2021).
Eagle Mountain identified a range of exploration targets including extensions to the existing
mineralisation and other near-mine prospects before commencing its diamond drill program in
September 2020. Following strong exploration results combined with ongoing delineation of
further exploration targets, the Company brought on an additional drill in May 2021. The
Company now has three diamond drill rigs operating on a full-time basis at the project targeting
extensions to existing resources and other prospective areas.
During the year, the Company identified two separate prospective alteration systems at Golden
Eagle, located two kilometres to the east of the mine area. The geology at Golden Eagle is vastly
different from the copper skarn mineralisation at the Oracle Ridge Mine and includes multiple
prospective signatures of a large hydrothermal system including quartz veining, extensive pyrite
and polymetallic mineralisation. Drilling at Golden Eagle commenced in July 2021.
A further prospective target area was identified as a possible extension to the skarn
mineralisation which supports the MRE. This area is known as Oracle Ridge Extension or “OREX”.
OREX is at the lower contact of the Leatherwood intrusive which can be traced at the surface for
over four kilometres and displays discontinuous skarn alteration and mineralisation over its entire
length. Based on Eagle Mountain’s recent mapping and review of historical drilling information
(refer ASX announcement 12 October 2020), the Company believes that the prospective contact
exists at depth below the Leatherwood for approximately three kilometres in an east-west
direction. The Company is seeking permits from the United States Forest Service for drilling on
parts of the OREX prospect.
An MRE upgrade drilling program commenced during the year, which aims to enable resources
in the “measured” category to be defined. The initial results not only support the existing MRE but
also discovered broad zones of mineralisation in areas that had not been previously assayed.
Further resource upgrade drilling is planned for FY22.
To support the planned growth of the Company, Mr Manuel Ramos was appointed as Chief
Executive Officer of US Operations during the year. Mr Ramos is a veteran of the Arizona copper
industry. He was President and Chief Operating Officer for ASARCO LLC between 2009 and 2018.
Prior to that position, Mr Ramos was VP Metallurgical Operations for over 10 years at ASARCO.
ASARCO, now a subsidiary of Grupo México, is a large integrated copper company that operates
the Mission, Silver Bell and Ray copper mine complexes in Arizona along with the Hayden Copper
Smelter, all within a few hours drive of Eagle Mountain’s Oracle Ridge Project. Prior to ASARCO,
Mr. Ramos held various managerial positions with Grupo México over a 25 year period. Mr Ramos
is a highly regarded Arizona businessman who brings a wealth of experience and resource
industry knowledge, along with broad US networks to this new role. A key objective for Mr Ramos
14
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is to take the Oracle Ridge Project from exploration through to feasibility and potentially
operations.
To support the accelerated exploration program, additional employees were engaged to support
drilling, core logging and general exploration activities. The Company now has 22 employees in
the US along with supporting contractors and consultants. Late in the financial year, the Company
moved into a new office in the northern end of Tucson which is closer to the site. Core processing
will occur in the new office and will allow for future growth of the Company. The Company has
also purchased a core saw to enable more efficient cutting of core at a reduced cost.
During the year, the Company continued to take a disciplined approach to the management of
COVID-19. Pleasingly there was little disruption to exploration activities. Vaccination rates in the
US are relatively high and restrictions gradually eased over the year allowing business to progress.
With the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic globally, sourcing certain supplies can be slower than usual
impacting some activities.
This year saw extreme weather with both monsoons, flooding and snow. During January, large
snowstorms across the southern USA impacted operations for a few days with over 1 foot of
snow. Drilling activities were ceased when access became too hazardous. Recently, Tucson
experienced the third wettest monsoon in its history. These rains caused damage to roads and
the extensive lightning storms prohibited drilling. Drilling rates picked up after the monsoon
season abated in September 2021.
Early in the financial year, a large wildfire in the Santa Catalina Mountains threatened many homes
and burnt extensive bushland. The fires came close to the Oracle Ridge project though fortunately
no infrastructure was damaged. The operational team in the US helped emergency crews by
setting up water lines for inflatable tanks to allow the helicopter water bombers faster access to
fight the fires. The local fire department was very appreciative of the assistance we provided, and
we were proud to contribute to the community during this time.

Project History
Since mining ceased in 1996, there has been little modern exploration and very minimal drilling
beyond the defined MRE, until Eagle Mountain acquired the project. Table 1 below shows a brief
history of Oracle Ridge.
Property Owner
Phelps Dodge Copper Co.

Time Period
1873-1937

Daily Arizona Copper Co,
Control Mines
Continental
Copper
Inc,
Union Mines Inc

1937 - 1968

Santa Catalina Mining Corp

1988 - 2004

1968 - 1988

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Events
Mining in district begins
20 t/day copper smelter constructed
Exploration and development
90 t/day flotation plant constructed
Operations occur sporadically
Large scale analysis of mineralisation
Reported US$19 million expenditure on
exploration and development
750 short ton (“st”)/day mill constructed 1991
1000 st/day mill expansion completed 1993
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Marble Mountain Ventures
LLC
Oracle Mining Corp

2004 - 2010

•
•
•

Roughly 1 million st of ore processed 1991-1995
Operation closed 1996 and mill removed
Real estate developers – no mining or exploration

2010 - 2014

•

Gold Hawk, renamed Oracle Mining Corp,
purchased 100% in the Oracle Ridge property
from Marble Mountain Ventures
21,700 m validation and expansion drill program
2010-2013
Air Quality Permit received 2012
MOU with Pima County on land exchange
Updated Mineral Resource Estimate NI43-101
2014
Secured note granted to Vincere
Vincere’s secured note puts ORM in receivership
Oracle Ridge mine assets held on care and
maintenance at cost of approx. US$400,000 per
annum

•
•
•
•

Receiver of Oracle Ridge
Mining LLC (ORM) - Vincere
Resource Holdings LLC

2014 – 2019

•
•
•

Wedgetail Operations LLC
(80% controlled by Eagle
Mountain Mining)

2019-2020

•

Wedgetail Operations LLC
(100% controlled by Eagle
Mountain Mining)

2021

•

Wedgetail Operations LLC (“Wedgetail”) undertook
due diligence and negotiations on Oracle Ridge,
which resulted in Wedgetail acquiring an 80%
interest in the project November 2019
(commercial details of the acquisition are outlined
later in the report)
Wedgetail purchased Vincere’s 20% interest, thus
moving to 100% ownership.

Table 1 - History of the Oracle Ridge Copper Project

16

E A G L |E 2021
MOU
N T A IReport
N M I N I N G | 2021 Annual Report
EAGLE MOUNTAIN MINING
Annual

14

Figure 2 - Plan Map of the Oracle Ridge Claims

Existing Infrastructure
The project has substantial infrastructure at the mine including approximately 18 kilometres of
underground development, access roads, tailings storage facility (closed), underground
ventilation, electrical and water services and surface infrastructure including offices and
maintenance buildings.
The existing infrastructure will reduce capital costs and the time required to re-start potential
production, which will be assessed in any future mining study.
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Underground development at Oracle Ridge

Underground diamond drill at Oracle Ridge

Mineralisation
The MRE at Oracle Ridge occurs within five main skarn zones, hosted by three limestone
formations; Abrigo, Martin and Escabrosa. These same formations also host significant skarn
deposits at other major porphyry mines in Arizona, including the Bisbee district, Mission Complex,
Twin Buttes, the Ray Mine, Superior district and further south into major mines located in Mexico.
Skarn alteration and copper mineralisation is believed to have formed during the Laramide
orogeny, a geologic period when many major world-class copper deposits such as Globe-Miami,
Magma, Resolution, Ray and San Manuel-Kalamazoo were formed throughout the southwestern
United States.

18
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Skarns are formed by an influx of hot solutions and heat from a nearby intrusive was likely
responsible for altering the mineral composition of the pre-existing limestone prior to depositing
copper, gold and silver minerals. The location of the intrusive at Oracle Ridge is not known and
locating this system remains a key exploration objective for the Company.
A conceptual section of Oracle Ridge is shown in Figure 3 below.

Figure 3 - Cross-Section of Conceptual Skarn Mineralisation at Oracle Ridge
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Core from drilling at the Talon. Mineralisation includes copper mineralisation with disseminated bornite (blue)
and chalcopyrite (yellow) in skarnified sediments in drill hole WT-21-32 (272.1 to 272.5m) (refer ASX
announcement 23 September 2021)

JORC Resource
During the year, a maiden JORC Mineral Resource Estimate (MRE) was completed. The MRE is the
culmination of a substantial amount of work by Eagle Mountain and follows the appointment of
SRK Consulting (Australasia) (SRK), a highly reputable mining consultancy. SRK was engaged to
complete the MRE using a methodology best suited for the mineralisation style at Oracle Ridge.
None of the drill holes completed since the commencement of the resource expansion drilling
program, which commenced in September 2020, have been included in the MRE, providing
significant opportunity for a resource upgrade in the future.
Using a 1.0% Cu cut-off grade, Oracle Ridge contains 12.2Mt at 1.51% Cu, 16.3/t Ag and 0.19g/t
Au for a contained 184kt Cu, 6.4Moz Ag and 73koz of Au as shown in Table 2 and Table 3 below.
Table 2 – Oracle Ridge Copper Project JORC 2012 Mineral Resource Estimate (1.0% Cu cut-off)1

Class
Tonnage (Mt)
Indicated
6.6
Inferred
5.6
Total
12.2

C u (% )
1.52
1.50
1.51

Ag (g/t)
15.8
17.0
16.3

Au (g/t)
0.19
0.18
0.19

Cu (t)
100,000
84,000
184,000

Ag (Oz)
3,348,000
3,033,000
6,382,000

Au (Oz)
40,000
33,000
73,000

Note - Totals may not add due to rounding differences

20
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Table 3 – Oracle Ridge Copper Project cut-off grade comparison (Indicated and Inferred)1
Copper Cut-off (% Cu) Tonnage (Mt) Cu (%)
Ag (g/t) Au (g/t)
Cu (t)
Ag (Oz)

Au (Oz

0.4

44.5

0.87

9.7

0.11

389,000

13,791,000

158,000

0.6

28.4

1.08

12.0

0.13

309,000

10,923,000

125,000

0.8

18.6

1.30

14.1

0.17

242,000

8,453,000

97,000

1.0

12.2

1.51

16.3

0.19

184,000

6,382,000

73,000

1.2

8.1

1.72

18.5

0.21

140,000

4,845,000

55,000

1.4

5.6

1.91

20.6

0.23

108,000

3,718,000

42,000

1.6

3.7

2.12

22.9

0.25

79,000

2,729,000

29,000

Note - Totals may not add due to rounding differences

The defined mineralisation at Oracle Ridge includes both higher and lower grade zones with a
steep grade versus tonnage relationship. By reducing the cut-off from 1% to 0.8% Cu, there is a
32% increase in contained copper. Conversely, by increasing the cut-off to 1.4% Cu, the overall
copper grade increases significantly from 1.51% to 1.91% Cu. These variations provide optionality
for future mining studies in terms of the potential production rate and grade.

Skarn Expert
During the year, the Company engaged Dr Larry Meinert, a world-renowned expert on skarns and
associated mineralisation. Dr Meinert’s review included examination of drill core, mapping of
underground formations and assay analysis. Key conclusions from Dr Meinert’s technical report
include:
•
•

•
•

The southern extension to the Oracle Ridge mine area is prospective for additional
copper-rich mineralisation
Potential for additional skarn-hosted mineralisation exists in the central and southern part
of the Oracle Ridge mine area beneath the Leatherwood intrusive and forms a prime
target for deeper drilling
Aeromagnetics is an effective tool in targeting copper mineralisation at Oracle Ridge
Detailed logging of minerals across the deposit will allow vectoring towards copper-rich
zones

Dr Meinert will continue collaborating with Eagle Mountain’s technical team to improve the
knowledge of the mineralisation system, evaluate exploration results at near-mine targets such
as OREX and define new prospective areas in the Oracle Ridge region.
Exploration
Since acquiring the project in November 2019, the Company has continued to build its geological
knowledge of the mine and region. This work has included reinterpretation of existing data,
structural reviews, multispectral studies, and geophysical surveys.
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The exploration strategy at Oracle Ridge is to initially prove the exploration target through drilling.
Concurrently, as skarn mineralisation is sourced from porphyry systems, locating the structural
controls leading to the porphyry system remains a key exploration focus for the Company.
In September 2020, the Company commenced a surface diamond drilling program at Oracle
Ridge. The drilling program was set to target extensions to high-grade portions of the existing
MRE.
During the year, the Company discovered a new zone of mineralisation along the upper
Leatherwood contact. This area known as the Talon coincides with a strong magnetic anomaly.
Assay results in this area included the outstanding high-grade intercept of 12.7m at 3.96% Cu,
49.11g/t Ag and 1.3g/t Au. Included in this zone was 34.4% Cu, 367g/t Ag and 26.2g/t Au over
0.4m in a massive chalcopyrite zone, the highest assay grades received at Oracle Ridge (refer ASX
announcement 31 March 2021).
Massive sulphides had not been previously encountered by Eagle Mountain at Oracle Ridge. This
is an exciting discovery and the technical team and its consultants are assessing the relevance of
this interval and its implications for the prospectivity of this area. Large portions of the
Leatherwood contact remain untested across the Project.
In April 2021, it was decided to accelerate diamond drilling with a second rig mobilised in late May
2021 and a third drill commencing in early July 2021. The decision to accelerate drilling was
supported by the following factors:
•
•
•

Multiple strong assay and drilling results outside the existing MRE;
Prospectivity for further mineralisation supported by the report from, Dr Larry Meinert
(refer ASX announcement 19 May 2021); and
Increasing pipeline of high-priority targets within a few kilometres of the underground
mine portals.

The aim of the accelerated drilling program is to:
•
•
•
•

Expand the existing JORC Resources;
Establish a Measured Resource category in the next MRE;
Drill test high-priority targets within a few kilometres of the existing mine; and
Assist vectoring towards potential deeper sources of mineralisation.

Drilling on the western side of the Talon indicated the potential for stacked lodes with multiple
mineralised zones in hole WT-21-15. Subsequent to the end of the financial year, assay results
for nearby holes WT-21-16 and WT-21-17 (refer ASX announcement 29 July 2021) confirmed the
presence of stacked mineralised lodes in the area. This is extremely encouraging as the stacked
lodes have the potential to add significant tonnes to the existing MRE. Follow-up drilling is planned
to the south of this area.
A total of 40 holes equalling 13,011 metres were drilled during the year.

22
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Principal Geologist Brian Paull holding core from WT-21-06 (from 371.6m) which assayed 34.4% Cu, 367g/t Ag
and 26.2g/t Au (refer ASX announcement 31 March 2021).
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Figure 4 – Summary map of selected assay results from drilling undertaken (refer ASX announcement 28 September 2021).
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To support the accelerated drilling program, extensive roadworks continued during the year to
establish new drilling pads. Some of the zones with very high copper assay grades could not be
followed up previously due to the location of access roads at the time. The roads installed during
the year enabled targeting of these prospective areas.

Resource extension drilling at Oracle Ridge

Mineral Resource Estimate Upgrade Drilling
During the year, two Resource upgrade holes were drilled with a further two holes completed in
early July 2021. The aim of the MRE upgrade program was to verify the quality and reliability of a
small portion of the historical drilling information in the Company’s database. In addition, should
the remaining infill MRE upgrade holes support the grades and thicknesses of previous drilling,
a portion of the existing Indicated MRE is likely to be upgraded to the JORC Measured category
(following an updated MRE). Only ‘Measured’ Mineral Resources may be converted to ‘Proved’
Ore Reserves if they are economically mineable as defined by a Pre-Feasibility or Feasibility
Study. These studies would include the application of various modifying factors and dilution and
have not yet been completed.
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The results of the initial MRE upgrade drilling were very pleasing as the results not only
supported the surrounding holes and MRE, but also intercepted thick zones of mineralisation
which had not previously been assayed. Results include:

•

•
•

110.1m at 1.06% Cu, 9.64g/t Ag and 0.16g/t Au (WT-21-24), ending in mineralisation,
and included
o 18.4m at 3.12% Cu, 27.83g/t Ag and 0.51g/t Au, within
o 50.5m at 1.73% Cu, 14.31g/t Ag and 0.26g/t Au 2
106.0m at 1.15% Cu, 11.73g/t Ag and 0.16g/t Au (WT-21-20) 3
96.1m at 0.98% Cu, 7.84g/t Ag and 0.15g/t Au (WT-21-18) 4

The intercept of 18.4m at 3.12% copper and 0.51g/t gold, within a much larger mineralised zone,
is one of the best intercepts recorded at Oracle Ridge. In addition, the overall average gold
grades in the reported infill holes are, better than those in surrounding historical holes.
The results from the resource upgrade drilling are significant because if the presence of these
thick zones is extensive it could materially improve the contained copper in the resource and
provide optionality for future mining methods and production rates.

Core logging at Oracle Ridge

Refer ASX announcement 15 September 2021
Refer ASX announcement 31 August 2021
4 Refer ASX announcement 29 July 2021
2
3
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Golden Eagle
Golden Eagle is an area centred approximately two kilometres to the east of the Oracle Ridge
mine portals which abuts the OREX project area to the north. Literature and preliminary
exploration work by Eagle Mountain showed potential for Golden Eagle to contain a gold-rich
mineralised system (refer ASX announcement 3 March 2021).
The Company initiated an exploration program over the area including a geological mapping and
sampling program and a geophysical magnetic survey. The objective of the program was to
confirm the extent and endowment of the area and identify favourable targets for drilling.
Two separate prospective alteration systems have been discovered at Golden Eagle, both vastly
different to the copper skarn mineralisation at the Oracle Ridge mine two kilometres to the west.
One of the alteration systems includes silica flooding, quartz stockwork veining and pyritization
along a major fault system; measuring 1 kilometre by 0.3 kilometres and remaining open in three
directions. The other system includes gold samples at surface up to 10.45 g/t Au that sit along a
1.5-kilometre-long magnetic high anomaly.
There are several faults that occur in the area, including the regionally significant Geesaman
Fault which represents a favourable plumbing system for mineralising fluids.
Drilling at Golden Eagle commenced in July 2021 testing both the pyrite silica zone and the
magnetic feature crossing the alteration area in a NW-SE direction. See Figure 5 below.

Outcropping Vuggy quartz vein with pods of massive hematite, jarosite and goethite rock at Golden Eagle
which assayed 1.62 g/t Au and 10.30 g/t Ag. (Refer ASX announcement 23 August 2021)
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Figure 5 – Plan view of Golden Eagle showing prospective systems (Refer ASX announcement 23 August
2021).

The Golden Eagle Project contains several features which rank it as a high priority exploration
opportunity:
•
•
•
•

28

A favourable structural setting including major features such as the Geesaman Fault
act to hide the magnitude of the alteration system;
Significant pyritic and silica alteration has been uncovered along the Pidgeon Tank
Fault;
High-grade gold samples over a 1.5-kilometre-long magnetic trend together with
anomalous bismuth and tungsten; and
Historical gold mining, including the well documented Sanderson Mine.
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Oracle Ridge Extension “OREX”
Based on encouraging results from an initial field mapping program at OREX in 2020 (refer
ASX announcement 12 October 2020), a detailed mapping project was undertaken. Assays
confirmed extensive occurrences of outcropping skarn-hosted copper-silver-gold
mineralisation along the lower contact of the Leatherwood intrusive and the skarn horizon.
Over 100 grab samples were collected with many returning high-grade mineralisation. The
limestone formations and resulting skarn are very similar to those encountered at the Oracle
Ridge mine.
The results of this latest fieldwork indicate that OREX is an outstanding target to define
additional skarn-hosted copper mineralisation at Oracle Ridge. Alteration and mineralisation
at OREX and at the Oracle Ridge mine display many similarities.
The lower contact of the Leatherwood intrusive at OREX can be traced at the surface for over
four kilometres and displays discontinuous skarn alteration and mineralisation over its entire
length. Based on Eagle Mountain’s recent mapping and review of historical drilling
information (refer ASX announcement 12 October 2020), the Company believes that the
prospective contact exists at depth below the Leatherwood for approximately three
kilometres in an east-west direction (see Figure 6).
The Company is seeking permits from the United States Forest Service for drilling on parts of
the OREX prospect.

Figure 6 - Location of OREX prospect with high-grade samples (refer ASX announcement 16 April 2021)
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High-grade waste from dump material at OREX target assaying 9.15% Cu, 192 g/t Ag and 0.15 g/t Au. The
sample was collected next to a small adit mined along a copper-bearing shear within the Leatherwood
intrusive (refer ASX announcement 12 October 2020).

Silver Mountain Project – 100% owned
Overview
The Silver Mountain copper/gold project (“Silver Mountain”) is located in Arizona to the
northwest of Phoenix. The project area sits on the northwest-southeast Laramide Arc, a
geological feature containing world-class porphyry copper mines such as Bagdad, Miami and
Resolution. It also lies on the southern extension of a northeast-southwest prospective
metallogenic belt that hosts United Verde and Iron King, two historical mines of volcanogenic
massive sulphide affinity. The intersection of these two trends results in a favourable geologic
setting with high complexity and potential for multiple mineralisation styles.
The northern portion of the project area has a history of prospecting and mining of highgrade copper from the 1890s into the 1920s.
Except for very limited campaigns in the 1960s, 1970s and early 1990’s, there had been no
modern exploration of the Silver Mountain area. Eagle Mountain and its subsidiaries have
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been the first companies to undertake modern exploration over the Silver Mountain project
area commencing in 2013.
Eagle Mountain was the first group to combine the fragmented land ownership along the
main copper mining trend. A portion of the tenements are held in patented claims, which
grant royalty-free surface and mineral rights with very low carrying costs.
Silver Mountain encompasses three main prospects known as “Pacific Horizon”, “Scarlett” and
“Red Mule”, each having a unique mineralisation style.
The Company views Silver Mountain as a very prospective project supported by multiple
favourable geological signatures. Further field mapping and geophysical surveys are planned
with the aim of defining the potential source of mineralisation outcropping at the surface.

Figure 7 - Map showing the land tenure and local geology of the Pacific Horizon, Scarlett and Red Mule
prospects
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Figure 8 below shows a hypothetical cross section across the Silver Mountain project
illustrating the different types of mineralisation targets and a postulated porphyry source at
depth which could explain the different mineralisation styles observed on the property.

Figure 8 - Conceptual mineralisation system at Silver Mountain Project
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COMPETENT PERSON STATEMENTS
The information in this document that relates to new Exploration Activities is based on
information compiled by Mr Fabio Vergara and Mr Brian Paull who are both Members of The
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (MAusIMM) and have sufficient experience
relevant to the activity which they are undertaking to qualify as a Competent Persons as
defined in the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results,
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code 2012). Mr Vergara is the Chief Geologist and
Mr Paull Principal Geologist of Eagle Mountain Mining Limited and consent to the inclusion in
this document of the information in the form and context in which it appears. Mr Vergara and
Mr Paull hold shares and options in Eagle Mountain Mining Limited.
Where the Company references previous exploration results including technical information
from previous ASX announcements and including historic results outlined in the ASX
announcement dated 25 May 2020, JORC Table 1 disclosures are included within them. The
Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects
the information included in those announcements, and all material assumptions and
technical parameters underpinning the results within those announcements continue to
apply and have not materially changed. In addition, the form and context in which the
Competent Persons findings are presented have not been materially modified from the
original reports.

Where the Company references the JORC Mineral Resource Estimate announced on 14
December 2020, it confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially
affects the information included in that announcement, and all material assumptions and
technical parameters underpinning the Mineral Resource Estimate within that
announcement continue to apply and have not materially changed. In addition, the form and
context in which the Competent Persons findings are presented have not been materially
modified from the original reports.
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ANNUAL MINERAL RESOURCE STATEMENT AS AT 30 JUNE 2021
The Company’s Mineral Resource Statement has been compiled in accordance with the
Australian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves
(“JORC Code 2012”) and Chapter 5 of the ASX Listing Rules and ASX Guidance Note 31. The
Company has no Ore Reserve estimates.
The Company governs its activities in accordance with industry best-practice. The resource
reports and supporting data were subjected to internal analysis and peer-review before
release.
Mineral Resources
During the financial year, the Company undertook a review of its Canadian NI 43-101
compliant mineral resource at its Oracle Ridge Copper Project (“Oracle Ridge”) in Arizona, USA,
with the view to re-defining the mineral resource as JORC Code 2012 compliant.
In late 2020, SRK Consulting (Australasia) was engaged to complete a review of the existing
Mineral Resource Estimate (“MRE”). A substantial amount of work was completed using a
methodology best suited for the mineralisation style at Oracle Ridge, which included:
•
•

•
•

Review, verification and interpretation of historical datasets;
Integration of historical datasets with information uncovered during the review which
had never been previously digitised (e.g. structures, alteration, mineralogy, missing
surveys);
Development of a maiden structural model as previous geological models did not
include any structural data or interpretation; and
Development of a new geological model.

Review of Material Changes
On 14 December 2020, the Company announced its maiden JORC Code 2012 compliant MRE.
The MRE for the Oracle Ridge Project comprises 12.2Mt at 1.51% Cu, 16.3g/t Ag and 0.19g/t
Au for 184kt Cu, 6.4Moz Ag and 73koz of Au (Indicated and Inferred at 1.0% Cu cut-off).
Table 1 – Oracle Ridge Copper Project JORC 2012 Mineral Resource Estimate (1.0% Cu cuto f f)
Class
Tonnage (Mt) Cu (%) Ag (g/t) Au (g/t)
Indicated
6.6
1.52
15.8
0.19
Inferred
5.6
1.50
17.0
0.18
Total
12.2
1.51
16.3
0.19
Note - Totals may not add due to rounding differences

Cu (t)
100,000
84,000
184,000

Ag (Oz)
3,348,000
3,033,000
6,382,000

Au (Oz)
40,000
33,000
73,000

The maiden JORC Code 2012 MRE is broadly in line with the previous NI 43-101 MRE,
providing confidence in the updated estimate. The updated JORC Code 2012 MRE has a
modest 4% increase in total tonnes when compared with the previous NI 43-101 MRE (refer
ASX announcement 29 October 2019).
34
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Governance and Internal Controls
The Company ensures good governance in relation to resource estimation through the use
of third-party resource consultants and internal review in accordance with industry best
practice. All reported resource estimates were generated by reputable, independent
consulting firms.
All drill hole data is stored in-house within a commercially available purpose designed
database management system and subjected to industry standard validation procedures.
Quality control on resource drill programs has been undertaken to industry standards with
implementation of appropriate drilling type, survey data collection, assay standards, sample
duplicates and repeat analyses.
The geologic model is considered robust with information from over 600 historic surface and
underground diamond drill holes. The resource reports and supporting data were subjected
to internal analysis and peer review before release. The Company is not aware of any
additional information, other than that reported, which would have a material effect on the
estimates as reported.
Due to the nature, stage and size of the Company’s existing operations, the Board believes
there would be no efficiencies gained by establishing a separate mineral reserves and
resources committee responsible for reviewing and monitoring the Company’s processes for
calculating mineral reserves and resources estimates and for ensuring that the appropriate
controls are applied to such calculations.
The Company confirms it is not aware of any new information or data since the MRE was
declared that materially affects the information included in this Mineral Resource Statement.
Table 2 – Summary of existing Mineral Resources
Resource
Project

Mineral Resource
Competent Person

Organization

ASX Reporting
Date

Oracle Ridge

Rodney Brown

SRK Consulting (Australasia) Pty Ltd

14 December 2020

COMPETENT PERSONS STATEMENT
The information in this Annual Mineral Resources Statement is based on, and fairly represents
information and supporting documentation reviewed by Mr Fabio Vergara, who is a member
of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (MAusIMM) and has sufficient
experience relevant to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Persons
as defined in the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results,
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code 2012). Mr Vergara is the Chief Geologist of
Eagle Mountain Mining Limited and consents to the inclusion in this document of the
information in the form and context in which it appears. Mr Vergara holds shares and options
in Eagle Mountain Mining Limited.
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ADDITIONAL ASX INFORMATION
Pursuant to the Listing Requirements of the Australian Securities Exchange, the shareholder
information set out below was applicable as at 13 October 2021.
A.

Distribution of Equity Securities
Analysis of numbers of shareholders by size of holding:
Ordinary Fully Paid Shares
Distribution
1 – 1,000
1,001 – 5,000
5,001 – 10,000
10,001 – 100,000
More than 100,000
Totals

Number of
shareholders
139
460
261
603
163
1,626

Securities held
85,290
1,388,571
2,134,862
21,359,619
203,095,780
228,064,122

% of issued capital
0.04%
0.61%
0.94%
9.37%
89.06%
100%

There are 74 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.
B.

Twenty Largest Shareholders
The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted shares are listed below:
Ordinary Shares - Quoted
Shareholder Name
Number of shares % of shares
SILVER MOUNTAIN MINING NOMINEE PTY LTD <THE SILVER
57,145,001
25.06
MOUNTAIN MINING A/C>
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED
19,294,458
8.46
CS THIRD NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <HSBC CUST NOM AU
17,978,869
7.88
LTD 13 A/C>
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED
13,145,252
5.76
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 2
8,414,971
3.69
METECH SUPER PTY LTD <METECH NO 2 SUPER FUND A/C>
5,714,286
2.51
DR SALIM CASSIM
5,506,476
2.41
UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD
5,130,747
2.25
VINCERE RESOURCES HOLDINGS LLC
4,950,324
2.17
MR PHILIP JOHN CAWOOD
4,615,000
2.02
ARALAD MANAGEMENT PTY LTD
3,737,503
1.64
GUNSYND PLC
2,500,000
1.10
J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED
2,471,701
1.08
QUARTZ MOUNTAIN MINING PTY LTD
1,744,000
0.76
NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED
1,648,975
0.72
EQUITY TRUSTEES LIMITED <LOWELL RESOURCES FUND
1,500,000
0.66
A/C>
SNOWBALL 3 PTY LTD <ANTONIO TORRESAN SUPER A/C>
1,500,000
0.66
BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IOOF INSMT MGMT LTD
1,400,000
0.61
DRP>
BFB HOLDINGS PTY LTD <BFB INVESTMENT A/C>
1,301,429
0.57
FLUE HOLDINGS PTY LTD <BROMLEY SUPERANNUATION
1,138,462
0.50
A/C>
Total
160,837,454
70.52%
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ADDITIONAL ASX INFORMATION
C.

Substantial Shareholders
An extract of the Company’s Register of Substantial Shareholders (who hold 5% or more of
the issued capital) is set out below:
Issued Ordinary Shares
Holder of Relevant Interest
Number of shares
% of shares
Silver Mountain Mining Nominee Pty Ltd and Associated
64,603,287
28.33%
Entities
Regal Funds Management Pty Ltd (RFM)
11,007,207
6.10%

D.

Unquoted Securities
Options over Unissued Shares
Number of
Options
6,500,000
715,000
1,600,000
1,500,000
650,000
1,923,078
1,325,000
1,170,000
2,500,000
2,800,000
6,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
28,683,078

Exercise Price

Expiry Date

Number of Holders

20 cents
20 cents
20 cents
21.5 cents
20 cents
30 cents
20 cents
20 cents
52 cents
52 cents
55 cents
$1.25
81.25 cents

15 January 2023
1 February 2023
1 July 2023
15 January 2023
7 October 2023
1 July 2022
1 July 2022
1 July 2022
22 February 2024
1 July 2024
1 July 2024
7 May 2023
12 October 2023

6
2
2
1
1
5
4
5
1
8
6
1
1

Performance Rights

E.

Number of Rights

Expiry Date

35,000
35,000

1 July 2028

Number of
Holders
2

Voting Rights
In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, voting rights in respect of ordinary shares are
on a show of hands whereby each member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote
and upon a poll, each share will have one vote.
There are no voting rights in respect of options or performance rights over unissued shares.

F.

Restricted Securities
There are no restricted securities on issue.
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ADDITIONAL ASX INFORMATION

Schedule of interests in mining tenements
Eagle Mountain mineral licences as at 13 October 2021 are all presently located in
the State of Arizona, United States of America.
Prospect &

Claim Reference

Tenure type

(Tenement)

Percentage
held

SILVER MOUNTAIN PROJECT
Pacific Horizon

Patented Claims
(26 individual claims)

Empire, Copper Ash, Palestine, Buffalo, Little
Pittsburg, Austin, Wellington, Eagle, Number Ten,
Number Eleven, Number Twelve, Number Thirteen,
Noonday, South Noonday, Dudley, Comet, Alameda,
Virginia, Mars, Ashland, Oakland, Sunnyside, Cuprite,
Azurite, Yavapai and Jumbo

100%

Unpatented Claims
(150 individual claims)

SMM#1-14, SMM#17-145, SMM#147, SMM#149,
SMM151, SMM#155, SMM#157, SMM#159,
SMM#161

100%

Exploration Permit
(1 individual permit)

008-012-0870

100%

Unpatented Claims
(92 individual claims)

SCA#1-15, SCA#57-133

100%

Exploration Permit
(2 individual permits)

008-120868, 008-120869

100%

Scarlett

Red Mule
Unpatented Claims
(98 individual claims)

SMM#146, SMM#148, SMM#150, SMM#152,
SMM#153, SMM#154, SMM#158, SMM#160,
SMM#162-207, SMM#210-212, SCA#16-56

100%

Exploration Permit
(2 individual permits)

008-120871, 008-120872

100%

SMMSO#001 - 015; SMMSO#023 - 048;
SMMSO#054; SMMSO#056; SMMSO#058 - 084

100%

008-120101

100%

Rhyolite Target
Unpatented Claims
(70 individual claims)
Exploration Permit
(1 individual permit)

38

EAGLE MOUNTAIN MINING | 2021 Annual Report
E A G L E M O U N T A I N M I N I N G | 2021 Annual Report

36

ADDITIONAL ASX INFORMATION
Prospect &

Claim Reference

Tenure type

(Tenement)

Percentage
held

ORACLE RIDGE COPPER PROJECT

Patented Claims
(60 individual claims)

Parcel 1 (Roosevelt, Way-up, Homestake, Lone Pine,
Imperial and Hidden Treasure)
Parcel 2 (Eagle, York, Copper Peak and Golden Peak
No 2)
Parcel 3 (Grand Central Lode)
Parcel 4 (Tunnel Site, Major McKinley, Marble Peak,
Wedge, Giant, Copper Head, Centennial, General R E
Lee and Blizzard)
Parcel 5 (Oversight MS3461)
Parcel 6 ( Daily No3, Daily No5, Sphinx, Roskruge,
Calumet, Edith, Daily Extension, Cave, Wedge No3,
Wedge No2 and Katherine)
Parcel 7 (Copper Princess, Apache Central and Daily
Tunnel Site)
Parcel 8 (Oversight MS3504)
Parcel 9 (Apex, Alabama, Bornite, Contact, Cuprite,
Epidote, Embersite, Garnet, Over the Top, Yellow
Copper, Valley, Apex No2, Keeney and Wilson)
Parcel 10 (Chalcopyrite and Peacock)
Parcel 11 (Daily Extension No2, Daily Extension No3,
Daily Extension No4)
Parcel 12 (H T Fraction)
Parcel 13 (Turkey)
Parcel 22 (Cochise)
Parcel 27 (Holly Terror)
Parcel 28 (Precious Metals)
That portion of Parcels 24 and 25 lying within:
(Apache, Maricopa, Yavapai, Buster, Major, Greenlee)

Unpatented Claims
(50 individual claims)

Jody #1 – 20, Lorelei #1 – 7,
Olesya #1 – 23

Red Hawk
Unpatented Claims
(24 individual claims)

OREX
Unpatented Claims
(93 individual claims)

100%

100%
100%

WTO 1-24 Lode Claims

WTO 25-106, 115-124, 142-144 Lode Claims

100%
100%

Golden Eagle
Unpatented Claims
(27 individual claims)

WTO 106-114, 125-141 Lode Claims

EAGLE MOUNTAIN MINING | 2021 Annual Report
E A G L E M O U N T A I N M I N I N G | 2021 Annual Report

37

39

Financial
Report

40

EAGLE MOUNTAIN MINING | 2021 Annual Report

40

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Directors present their report on Eagle Mountain Mining Limited (“Eagle Mountain” or the
“Company”) and its controlled entities (the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2021.

DIRECTORS
The names and details of the Group’s Directors in office during the year until the date of this report
are as follows. Directors were in office for this entire year unless otherwise stated.
Rick Crabb - B. Juris (Hons), LLB, MBA, FAICD

(Non-Executive Chairman)

Rick Crabb holds degrees of Bachelor of Jurisprudence (Honours), Bachelor
of Laws and Master of Business Administration from the University of
Western Australia. He practised as a solicitor from 1980 to 2004 with
Robinson Cox (now Clayton Utz) and Blakiston & Crabb (now Gilbert + Tobin)
specialising in mining, corporate and commercial law, advised in relation to
numerous project developments in Australia and Africa.
Rick has since focused on his public company directorships and
investments. He has been involved as a director and strategic shareholder
in a number of successful public companies. He is currently Non-executive
Chairman of Ora Gold Limited and a Non-executive Director of WarpForge Limited. He is a former
director of Paladin Energy Limited (February 1994 to October 2019).
Charles Bass - B.Sc. Geology, M.Sc. Mining Engineering/Mineral Processing, FAICD, FAusIMM, FAIG

(Managing Director. )

Charles Bass completed his B.Sc. in Geology at Michigan Technological
University, followed by a M.Sc in Mining Engineering & Mineral Processing
at Queen’s University, Canada. Between his degrees Charles worked as a
geologist and then Plant Metallurgist at a copper-gold mine in Northern
Quebec.
Charles joined AMAX Inc, an American mining company in their Head Office
in 1976 and came to Perth in 1978. Between 1980 to 1981, AMAX had him
work in Tucson, Arizona at the Twin Buttes copper mine. Charles returned
to Australia and established his first company, Metech Pty Ltd in late 1981.
Charles established Eagle Mining Corporation in 1992 with Tony Poli and was responsible for the deal
that led to the discovery of the very successful Nimary Gold Mine. Eagle Mining Corporation won both
Explorer of the Year and then Developer of the Year at Diggers and Dealers conference and was subject
to a hostile takeover in 1997.
Charles then co-founded Aquila Resources Ltd with Tony Poli in 2000 and helped transition it from a
gold explorer to iron ore and coal before it too was subject to a hostile $1.4 billion takeover in 2014 at
the hands of a joint bid between Baosteel and ASX listed Aurizon.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Roger Port – BA, FCA, SF Fin, FAICD

(Non-Executive Director)

Roger Port was a partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers from 1997 to 2016.
He has 30 years’ experience in financial analysis, company and business
valuations, transaction due diligence and mergers and acquisitions and led
the PricewaterhouseCoopers Perth Deals team from 2009 to 2016. He has
had significant experience in the resources sector in his career and jointly
led the PwC Australia Deals Energy & Mining industry group for five years.
Roger is a graduate of Macquarie University and gained a Graduate
Diploma in Applied Finance and Investment from the Securities Institute of
Australia. He is a Fellow of Chartered Accountants Australia and New
Zealand, a Senior Fellow of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia
and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
Roger is a board member of MG Kailis Holdings Pty Ltd, the Harry Perkins Institute of Medical Research
and Chair of Council of Guildford Grammar School.
Brett Rowe - BComm, MAcc, GAICD

(Alternate Director for Charles Bass)
Brett Rowe has over 20 years’ experience in the financial services industry
and is a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. He holds
a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Masters of Accounting.
Brett is a director and the chief executive officer of The Bass Group, as well
as a director of The Bass Family Foundation and Silver Mountain Mining Pty
Ltd. Brett is responsible for managing the global financial interests of the
Bass Family, as well as the Foundation’s ongoing support of education and
health in disadvantaged children and youth in regional Western Australia.

Brett is also a director of the Centre for Entrepreneurial Research and
Innovation Limited (CERI). CERI aims to assist the growth of WA’s non-mining industry through a strong
innovation base where high-knowledge start-up company formation can be accelerated. This is
achieved through the co-creation of a WA-based venture capital industry.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Tim Mason – B. Eng (Hons) MBA; GAICD
Mr Mason has 18 years’ experience in the mining and engineering sectors
across a broad range of corporate, operations, business development and
engineering roles. His recent roles of General Manager Operations and
General Manager Projects and Innovation involved conducting feasibility
studies, project development and operations start-up, business
development, project financing and corporate presentations.
Mr Mason holds a Bachelor of Engineering Honours (Geotechnical) from the
Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology, a Masters of Business
Administration from Murdoch University and is a Graduate Member of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mark Pitts - B.Bus; FCA; GAICD

(Company Secretary)

Mark Pitts is a Partner in Corporate Advisory firm Endeavour Corporate and
has over 30 years’ experience in business administration and corporate
compliance. Having started his career with KPMG in Perth, Mark has worked
at a senior management level in a variety of commercial and consulting roles
including mining services, healthcare and property development. The
majority of the past 15 years has been spent working for or providing
services to publicly listed companies in the resources sector.
Mark is a registered company auditor and holds a Bachelor of Business
Degree from Curtin University, is a Fellow of Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand and is a graduate of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
As at the date of this report, the Directors’ interests in shares and unlisted options of the Company are
as follows:

Director

Directors’ Interests
in Ordinary Shares

R Crabb
C Bass
R Port
B Rowe (alternate for C Bass)

793,000
62,859,287
559,000
500,000

Directors’ Interests in
Unlisted Options
3,125,000
4,075,000
3,125,000
2,000,000

Options vested at
the reporting date
3,125,000
4,075,000
3,125,000
2,000,000

The Directors’ interests include Unlisted Options which are vested or exercisable as at the date of
signing this report.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of meetings of the Company’s Directors held during the year ended 30 June 2021, and
the number of meetings attended by each Director are as follows:

Board of Directors’ Meetings
Eligible to Attend
Attended

Director
R Crabb
C Bass
R Port
B Rowe (alternate for C Bass)

6
6
6
6

6
6
6
6

EAGLE MOUNTAIN
MINING
| 2021 Annual Report
Page
5

43

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company’s principal activities for the year ended 30 June 2021 focussed on exploration activities
at the Oracle Ridge Copper Mine. Field work, mapping, geophysical interpretation, targeted diamond
drilling programs for both resource expansion, infill and geotechnical drilling were conducted during
the year. The Company also engaged in capital raising activities and completed the acquisition of the
non-controlling interest in Wedgetail Operations LLC, the owner of the Oracle Ridge Copper Mine.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Exploration activities
Exploration activities for the financial year have been primarily focussed at the Group’s Oracle Ridge
Copper Mine project in Arizona, United States of America. Drilling contractor Boart Longyear
commenced an initial diamond drilling program in September 2020 and following positive drilling
results and observations of mineralisation in the core, the drilling program was extended. Drilling
continued during the reporting period with the aim of expanding the existing JORC mineral resource.

Corporate activities and acquisitions
During the financial year, the Group completed the acquisition of the remaining 20% non-controlling
interest held in Wedgetail Operations LLC, the owner of the Oracle Ridge Copper Mine, from Vincere
Resource Holdings LLC.
The Group completed three share placements to sophisticated and institutional investors during the
financial year, raising a total of $15.5 million (before costs) through the issue of 59,505,495 shares. The
Group also received approximately $4.3 million (before costs) through the exercise of options and the
issue of 16,953,090 shares.

Results of operations and financial position
The operating loss after income tax of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2021 was $21,070,239
(2020: $4,368,936). Included in the loss for the year are uncapitalised exploration costs of $9,306,222
(2020: $2,717,101) and non-cash items (in respect of depreciation, share-based payments expenses
and fair value losses) amounting to $10,265,364 (2020: $367,623).
At 30 June 2021, cash assets amounted to $9,119,371 (2020: $507,750). During the year ended 30 June
2021, the Company received $19,791,118 before related costs, on the issue of shares and options
(2020: $1,800,001).

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
Other than the matters stated in this report, there have been no significant changes in the Group’s
state of affairs during the financial year.

EQUITY SECURITIES ON ISSUE
Class of Security
Ordinary fully paid shares
Unlisted options over unissued shares
Performance rights

30 June 2021

30 June 2020

202,669,630
29,452,780
35,000

115,901,045
26,409,716
245,000

Subsequent to the end of the financial year, the Company issued 568,953 ordinary shares on the
exercise of options.
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EQUITY SECURITIES ON ISSUE (continued)
Unlisted Options over Ordinary Shares
At 30 June 2021, 29,452,780 unissued ordinary shares of the Company were under option as follows:

Number of Options Granted

Exercise Price

Expiry Date

6,750,000
715,000 2
219,702 3

20 cents
20 cents
20 cents

15 January 2023
1 February 2023
31 July 2021

1,700,000 4
1,500,000 5
650,000 6
1,923,078 7
2,495,000 8
2,500,000 9

20 cents
21.5 cents
20 cents
30 cents
20 cents
52 cents

1 July 2023
15 January 2023
7 October 2023
1 July 2022
1 July 2022
22 February 2024

2,800,00010
6,000,00011
2,000,00012
200,00013

52 cents
55 cents
$1.25
$1.40

1 July 2024
1 July 2024
7 May 2025
1 July 2024

1

Options issued to Directors, Alternate Director, employees and Company Secretary.
Options issued to employees pursuant to the Company’s employee incentive plan.
3
Options issued pursuant to a pro-rata entitlement offer which closed on 7 June 2019.
4
Options issued to employees pursuant to the Company’s employee incentive plan.
5
Options issued to the Chief Executive Officer.
6
Options issued to employees pursuant to the Company’s employee incentive plan.
7
Options issued to brokers.
8
Options issued to employees, Directors and Quartz Mountain Mining Pty Ltd.
9, 10, 13
Options issued to employees pursuant to the Company’s employee incentive plan.
11
Options issued to Directors.
12
Options issued under a corporate advisory mandate.
1
2

During the year, 19,996,154 options were issued; 16,953,090 options were exercised and no options
were cancelled.
Subsequent to 30 June 2021 and the date of this report, 600,000 options have vested; 568,953 options
(exercise price of $0.20) were exercised and 749 options were cancelled without being exercised on
their expiry date of 31 July 2021. No options have been issued since 30 June 2021. At the date of this
report there were 28,883,078 unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option.
Options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other body
corporate.
The holders of unlisted options are not entitled to any voting rights until the options are exercised into
ordinary shares.
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EQUITY SECURITIES ON ISSUE (continued)
Performance Rights over Ordinary Shares
During the year ended 30 June 2021, 60,000 performance rights vested and 210,000 performance
rights were exercised and converted into shares. No performance rights were issued or cancelled
during the reporting period.
Subsequent to 30 June 2021, 35,000 performance rights vested. No performance rights have been
issued, exercised or cancelled between 30 June 2021 and the date of this report.

DIVIDENDS
No dividend has been paid during the year and no dividend is recommended for the current financial
year.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE REPORTING YEAR
In August 2021, Quartz Mountain Mining Pty Ltd as trustee for the Bass Family Trust, an entity
associated with Mr Charles Bass, agreed to accept 1,744,000 shares in the Company, subject to
shareholder approval, in lieu of repayment of the US$1,000,000 loan which was due to be repaid by
31 December 2021. The issue of shares is subject to shareholder approval and the effective issue price
of 78.4 cents represents a premium to the closing price on 25 August 2021 and a 10% premium to the
20 day VWAP of the Company’s shares.
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is ongoing. The situation is dependent on measures imposed
by the Australian Government, United States Government and other countries, such as maintaining
social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that may be
provided. It is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting
date.
Other than as stated above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year
and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the
opinion of the Directors of the Company to affect substantially the operations of the Group, the results
of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The Group intends to undertake further exploration programs at the Oracle Ridge Copper Mine and
the Silver Mountain Project in Arizona in the United States of America.
Any other likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those
operations in future financial years have not been included in this report as the inclusion of such
information is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES
The Group’s operations are not regulated under any significant environmental regulation under a law
of the Commonwealth of Australia, a State or a Territory. The operations and proposed activities of the
Group are subject to United States Federal and Arizona State laws and regulations concerning the
environment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (continued)
The Board believes that the Group has adequate systems in place for the management of its
environmental requirements. The Group aims to ensure the appropriate standard of environmental
care is achieved, and in doing so, that it is aware of and is in compliance with all environmental
legislation. The Directors of the Group are not aware of any breach of environmental legislation for the
financial year under review.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS AND AUDITORS
During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Company paid an insurance premium to insure certain
officers of the Company. The officers of the Company covered by the insurance policy include the
Directors named in this report.
The Directors and Officers Liability insurance provides cover against all costs and expenses that may
be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that fall within the scope of the indemnity and
that may be brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of the Company. The insurance
policy does not contain details of the premium paid in respect of individual officers of the Company.
Disclosure of the nature of the liability cover and the amount of the premium is subject to a
confidentiality clause under the insurance policy.
The Company has not provided any insurance for an auditor of the Company.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE GROUP
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or intervene in
any proceedings to which the Group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the
Group for all or any part of those proceedings.
The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The following non-audit services were provided by William Buck Advisors (WA) Pty Ltd, a related entity
of the entity’s auditor, William Buck Audit (WA) Pty Ltd. The Directors are satisfied that the provision of
non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by
the Corporations Act 2001. The nature and scope of each type of non-audit service provided means
that auditor independence was not compromised.
William Buck Advisors (WA) Pty Ltd received or is due to receive the following amounts for the provision
of non-audit services:

30 June 2021

30 June 2020

Taxation services for Silver Mountain Mining
Pty Ltd

-

$1,660

Taxation services for Eagle Mountain Mining
Limited

$2,460

$3,960
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
Remuneration paid to Directors and Officers of the Company is set by reference to such payments
made by other ASX listed companies of a similar size and operating in the mineral exploration industry.
In addition, reference is made to the specific skills and experience of the Directors and Officers.
Details of the nature and amount of remuneration of each Director and other Key Management
Personnel are disclosed annually in the Remuneration Report.

Remuneration Committee
The Board has adopted a formal Nomination and Remuneration Policy which provides a framework
for the consideration of remuneration matters.
The Company does not have a separate remuneration committee and as such, all remuneration
matters are considered by the Board as a whole, with no member deliberating or considering such
matter in respect of their own remuneration.
In the absence of a separate Remuneration Committee, the Board is responsible for:
1.
2.

Setting remuneration packages for Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and other Key
Management Personnel; and
Implementing employee incentive and equity based plans and making awards pursuant to those
plans.

Non-Executive Remuneration
The Company’s policy is to remunerate Non-Executive Directors, at rates comparable to other ASX
listed companies in the same industry, for their time, commitment and responsibilities.
Non-Executive Remuneration is not linked to the performance of the Company, however, to align
Directors’ interests with shareholders’ interests, remuneration may be provided to Non-Executive
Directors in the form of equity based long term incentives.
1.
2.
3.
4.

Fees payable to Non-Executive Directors are set within the aggregate amount approved by
shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting;
Non-Executive Directors’ fees are payable in the form of cash and superannuation benefits;
Non-Executive Directors’ superannuation benefits are limited to statutory superannuation
entitlements; and
Participation in equity based remuneration schemes by Non-Executive Directors is subject to
consideration and approval by the Company’s shareholders.

The maximum aggregate Non-Executive Directors’ fees payable is currently set at $300,000 per annum.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued)
Executive Director and Other Key Management Personnel Remuneration
Executive remuneration consists of base salary, plus other performance incentives to ensure that:
1.

2.

Remuneration packages incorporate a balance between fixed and incentive pay, reflecting short
and long term performance objectives appropriate to the Company’s circumstances and
objectives; and
A proportion of remuneration is structured in a manner to link reward to corporate and individual
performance.

Executives are offered a competitive level of base salary at market rates (based on comparable ASX
listed companies) and are reviewed regularly to ensure market competitiveness. To date the Company
has not engaged external remuneration consultants to advise the Board on remuneration matters.

Incentive Plans
The Company provides long term incentives to Directors and Employees pursuant to the Company’s
Employee Incentive Plan.
The Board, acting in remuneration matters:
1.

Ensures that incentive plans are designed around appropriate and realistic performance targets
and provide rewards when those targets are achieved;

2.

Reviews and approves existing incentive plans established for employees; and

3.

Approves the administration of the incentive plans, including receiving recommendations for and
the consideration and approval of grants pursuant to such incentive plans.

Engagement of Non-Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors conduct their duties under the following terms:
1.

A Non-Executive Director may resign from his/her position and thus terminate their contract on
written notice to the Company; and

2.

A Non-Executive Director may, following resolution of the Company’s shareholders, be removed
before the expiration of their period of office (if applicable). Payment is made in lieu of any notice
period if termination is initiated by the Company, except where termination is initiated for serious
misconduct.

In consideration of the services provided by Mr Rick Crabb as Non-Executive Chairman, the Company
will pay him a fee inclusive of statutory superannuation of $50,000 per annum.
In consideration of the services provided by Mr Roger Port as Non-Executive Director, the Company
will pay him a fee inclusive of statutory superannuation of $50,000 per annum.
For the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 July 2020, Non-Executive Director fees owing to Messrs Crabb
and Port were waived as part of a cost reduction exercise following the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic.
Messrs Crabb and Port are also entitled to fees for other amounts as the Board determines where
they perform special duties or otherwise perform extra services or make special exertions on behalf
of the Company. There were no such fees paid during the year ended 30 June 2021.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued)
Engagement of Executive Director
The Company has entered into an executive service agreement with Mr Charles Bass in his role as
Managing Director on the following material terms and conditions.
Mr Bass received a base salary inclusive of statutory superannuation of $50,000 per annum from the
commencement of the agreement until 1 June 2018, at which time the remuneration was reviewed.
Mr Bass’ remuneration was unchanged as a result of this review.
For the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 July 2020, Mr Bass waived his salary as part of a cost reduction
exercise following the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Either party may terminate the agreement by providing 30 days written notice to the other party. Eagle
Mountain may otherwise terminate the Managing Director’s employment in accordance with the
Constitution or the Corporations Act. Upon termination of the agreement, Mr Bass will cease
employment with Eagle Mountain as its Managing Director and will become a Non-Executive Director
of Eagle Mountain.
Mr Bass may, subject to shareholder approval, participate in Eagle Mountain’s Employee Incentive Plan
and other long term incentive plans adopted by the Board.

Engagement of Chief Executive Officer
The Company has entered into an executive service agreement with Mr Timothy Mason, effective 15
January 2020, in his role as Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) on the following material terms and
conditions.
Mr Mason receives a base salary inclusive of statutory superannuation of $300,000 per annum.
For the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 July 2020, Mr Mason’s salary was reduced to $210,000 per
annum as part of a cost reduction exercise following the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. His
salary reverted to $300,000 per annum from 1 August 2020 and was increased to $330,000 per annum
from 1 February 2021.
The CEO may terminate the agreement by providing 3 months’ written notice. Eagle Mountain may
terminate the agreement with 3 months’ written notice or the provision of 3 months’ salary in lieu of
notice; or may otherwise terminate the CEO’s employment in accordance with the Constitution or the
Corporations Act.
Upon commencement of his employment, Mr Mason received 1,500,000 unlisted options and 150,000
unlisted performance rights over unissued shares of the Company. An expense of $54,556 (2020:
$59,240) was recognised through the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the current reporting period in respect of the issue of these securities.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued)
Short Term Incentive Payments
The Non-Executive Directors set annual Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) for the Executive Director
and the CEO. The KPIs are chosen to align the reward of the individual Executives to the strategy and
performance of the Company.
Performance objectives, which may be financial or non-financial, or a combination of both, are
weighted when calculating the maximum Short Term Incentives payable to Executives. At the end of
the year, the Non-Executive Directors will assess the actual performance of the Executives against the
set performance objectives. The maximum amount of the Short Term Incentive, or a lesser amount
depending on actual performance achieved, is paid to the Executives as a cash payment.
No Short Term Incentives are payable to Executives where it is considered that the actual performance
has fallen below the minimum requirement.

Shareholding Qualifications
The Directors are not required to hold any shares in Eagle Mountain under the terms of the Company’s
Constitution.

Group Performance
In considering the Company’s performance, the Board provides the following indices in respect of the
current financial year:

Loss for the year/period
attributable to shareholders
Closing share price at 30 June

2021

2020

2019

2018

$(21,070,239)

$(3,985,856)

$(6,890,466)

$(1,681,900)

$1.00

$0.16

$0.125

$0.42

As a Group focussed on exploration activities, the Board does not consider the loss attributable to
shareholders as one of the performance indicators when implementing Short Term Incentive
payments.
In addition to technical exploration success, the Board considers the effective management of safety,
environmental and operational matters and successful management, acquisition and consolidation of
high quality landholdings, as more appropriate indicators of management performance for the
financial year.

Remuneration Disclosures
The Key Management Personnel of the Company have been identified as:
Mr Rick Crabb
Non-Executive Chairman
Mr Charles Bass
Managing Director
Mr Roger Port
Non-Executive Director
Mr Brett Rowe
Alternate Director for Charles Bass
Mr Tim Mason
Chief Executive Officer
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued)
The details of the remuneration of each Director and member of Key Management Personnel of the
Company is as follows:
Short Term

Year Ended 30
June 2021

Post Employment

Other Long
Term

Total

Value of Equity
as Proportion
of
Remuneration

Base Salary

Short Term
Incentive

Superannuation
Contributions

Value of Equity
Based
Remuneration2

$

$

$

$

$

%

Rick Crabb

41,857

-

3,976

1,484,013

1,529,846

97.0%

Charles Bass

41,857

-

3,976

1,484,013

1,529,846

97.0%

Roger Port

41,857

-

3,976

1,484,013

1,529,846

97.0%

Brett Rowe

-

-

-

1,464,150

1,464,150

100.0%

Tim Mason 1

283,595

-

21,405

85,334

390,334

21.9%

Total

409,166

-

33,333

6,001,523

6,444,022

-

Total

Value of Equity
as Proportion
of
Remuneration

Short Term

Year Ended 30
June 2020

Post Employment

Other Long
Term

Base Salary

Short Term
Incentive

Superannuation
Contributions

Value of Equity
Based
Remuneration2

$

$

$

$

$

%

Rick Crabb

34,247

-

3,253

-

37,500

-

Charles Bass

34,247

-

3,253

-

37,500

-

Roger Port

34,247

-

3,253

-

37,500

-

Brett Rowe

-

-

-

-

-

-

Tim Mason 1

108,418

-

9,383

59,240

177,041

33.5%

Total

211,159

-

19,142

59,240

289,541

-

Appointed 15 January 2020.
The fair value of options and performance rights is calculated at the date of grant using a Black Scholes
option pricing model and allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to
vesting date. The value disclosed in the above table is the portion of the fair value of the securities
recognised in the reporting period. The basis of the fair value is disclosed later in this Remuneration
Report.

1
2
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued)
Details of Performance Related Remuneration
During the year ended 30 June 2021, no Short Term Incentive payments were paid to the Directors or
Key Management Personnel.

Equity Based Remuneration
During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Directors and Key Management Personnel were granted the
following options as remuneration.
Number of
options
granted
125,000
1,500,000
125,000
1,500,000
125,000
1,500,000

Grant Date
25.09.2020
30.04.2021
25.09.2020
30.04.2021
25.09.2020
30.04.2021

V e s t i ng
Date
25.09.2020
30.04.2021
25.09.2020
30.04.2021
25.09.2020
30.04.2021

Expiry
Date
01.07.2022
01.07.2024
01.07.2022
01.07.2024
01.07.2022
01.07.2024

Exercise
Price
$0.20
$0.55
$0.20
$0.55
$0.20
$0.55

Fair value
per option
at grant
$0.16
$0.98
$0.16
$0.98
$0.16
$0.98

Brett Rowe

1,500,000

30.04.2021

30.04.2021

01.07.2024

$0.55

$0.98

Tim Mason

530,000
500,000
500,000

23.07.2020
22.02.2021
22.02.2021

07.08.2020
01.07.2022
01.07.2023

01.07.2022
01.07.2024
01.07.2024

$0.20
$0.52
$0.52

$0.06
$0.27
$0.27

Name
Rick Crabb
Charles Bass
Roger Port

The fair value of options is determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model. Fair value of
options issued as remuneration is allocated to the relevant vesting period of the securities. Options
and performance rights are provided at no initial cost to the recipients.
During the financial year, 8,269,000 options were exercised by Key Management Personnel.

Exercise of Options Granted as Remuneration
During the year ended 30 June 2021, no ordinary shares were issued in respect of the exercise of
options previously granted as remuneration to Directors or Key Management Personnel of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Equity Instrument Disclosures Relating to Key Management Personnel
Option Holdings
Key Management Personnel have the following interests in unlisted options over unissued shares of
the Company.
Year ended 30
June 2021

Balance at
beginning of
the year

Received
during the
year as
remuneration

O t he r
changes
during the
year

Balance at
t h e e nd o f
the year

V e s t e d an d
exercisable
at t h e e n d o f
the year

Rick Crabb

1,561,000

1,625,000

(61,000)

3,125,000

3,125,000

Charles Bass

9,665,000

1,625,000

(7,215,000)

4,075,000

4,075,000

Roger Port

1,543,000

1,625,000

(43,000)

3,125,000

3,125,000

Brett Rowe

1,000,000

1,500,000

(500,000)

2,000,000

2,000,000

Tim Mason

1,500,000

1,530,000

-

3,030,000

1,030,000

Name

Performance Rights Holdings
Key Management Personnel have the following interests in unlisted performance rights over unissued
shares of the Company.
Year ended 30
June 2021

Balance at
beginning of
the year

Received
during the
year as
remuneration

Other
changes
during the
year

Balance at
t h e e nd o f
the year

Vested and
exercisable
at t h e e n d o f
the year

Rick Crabb

-

-

-

-

-

Charles Bass

-

-

-

-

-

Roger Port

-

-

-

-

-

Brett Rowe

-

-

-

-

-

Tim Mason

150,000

-

(150,000)

-

-

Name

Exercise of Performance rights Granted as Remuneration
During the year ended 30 June 2021, 150,000 ordinary shares were issued in respect of the exercise
of performance rights previously granted as remuneration to Directors or Key Management Personnel
of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued)
Share Holdings
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by Key Management Personnel
of the Company, including their related parties are set out below. There were no shares granted during
the reporting period as compensation.
Year ended 30
June 2021

Balance at
beginning of the
year

Received during
the year as
remuneration

Other changes
during the year

Balance at the
end of the year

732,000

-

61,000

793,000

48,980,001

-

13,879,286

62,859,287

Roger Port

516,000

-

43,000

559,000

Brett Rowe

500,000

-

-

500,000

Tim Mason

-

-

150,000

150,000

Name
Rick Crabb
Charles Bass

Loans made to Key Management Personnel
No loans were made to Key Management Personnel including personally related entities during the
financial year.

Loans received from Key Management Personnel
During the prior year, the Company entered into an unsecured loan agreement with a director related
entity, Quartz Mountain Mining Pty Ltd (“Quartz Mountain”) as trustee for the Bass Family Trust. The
principal of US$1,000,000 attracts interest at 2% per annum with the first three months being interest
free. The loan’s initial maturity date was subsequently deferred to 31 December 2021. During the
reporting period, shareholders approved the issue to Quartz Mountain of 950,000 options, exercisable
at 20 cents each on or before 1 July 2022, as satisfaction of interest owing to 31 December 2021.
Interest expense of US$20,372 (A$28,640) was recognised during the reporting period.

Other transactions with Key Management Personnel
Transactions between related parties are on commercial terms and conditions, no more favourable
than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.
The Company has entered into a lease agreement with Elk Mountain Mining Limited, an entity
associated with Mr Charles Bass, for the lease of the Company’s administration offices in Perth,
Western Australia. Total lease repayments of $87,387 (2020: $85,847) were paid during the year,
including interest of $19,064 (2020: $35,402) and lease principal repayments of $68,323 (2020:
$50,445).
Other than the above, there were no transactions with Key Management Personnel.
End of Remuneration Report
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 requires our auditors, William Buck Audit (WA) Pty Ltd, to
provide the Directors of the Group with an Independence Declaration in relation to the audit of the
financial report. This Independence Declaration is set out on the following page and forms part of this
Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2021.
This report has been made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Rick Crabb
Chairman
Dated at Perth this 20th day of September 2021
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF EAGLE MOUNTAIN MINING
LIMITED
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief during the year ended 30 June 2021
there have been:
— no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and
— no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the
audit.

William Buck Audit (WA) Pty Ltd
ABN 67 125 012 124

Conley Manifis
Director
Dated this 20th day of September 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
For the Year Ended 30 June 2021

Notes
Other income

Year ended 30
June 2021
A$

Year ended 30
June 2020
A$

45,231

50,000

746

867

Interest income
Forgiveness of loan – Paycheck Protection Program

13

Administration and other costs
Employee expenses – non-exploration

147,921

-

(882,695)

(779,231)

(661,145)

(310,957)

(7,544,069)

(248,723)

(394,736)

(247,281)

(444,220)

(387,772)

Exploration and evaluation costs

(9,306,222)

(2,717,101)

Net change in fair value of convertible notes

(2,277,075)

268,872

Equity based payments

4

Finance costs
Depreciation expense

9, 10

Gain on foreign currency exchange

246,025

2,390

Loss before income tax

4

(21,070,239)

(4,368,936)

Income tax expense

5

-

-

(21,070,239)

(4,368,936)

(100,418)

103,077

(21,170,657)

(4,265,859)

(19,199,277)

(3,985,856)

Loss after income tax from continuing operations
Other comprehensive income net of income tax
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent years net of
income tax
Unrealised (loss)/gain on foreign currency exchange
Total comprehensive loss for the year

16a

Loss attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

(1,870,962)

(383,080)

(21,070,239)

(4,368,936)

(19,317,968)

(3,892,026)

(1,852,689)

(373,833)

(21,170,657)

(4,265,859)

cents

cents

(12.1)

(3.7)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Basic and diluted loss per share

28

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2021

30 June 2021

30 June 2020

A$

A$

9,119,371
306,131

507,750
138,309

9,425,502

646,059

9,474,278
977,951
531,202
260,459
11,243,890

10,378,496
1,265,634
208,493
132,945
11,985,568

20,669,392

12,631,627

1,073,654
105,268
211,127
1,340,297
2,730,346

179,444
58,923
111,315
1,636,325
1,986,007

340,781
9,708
11,006,713
11,357,202

117,895
9,290,293
9,408,188

14,087,548

11,394,195

6,581,844

1,237,432

45,601,593
4,500
5,526,540
(44,550,789)
6,581,844
6,581,844

15,322,265
4,500
(1,518,029)
(12,381,375)
1,427,361
(189,929)
1,237,432

Note
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

6
7

Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Bonds and security deposits
Total Non-Current Assets

8
9
10

TOTAL ASSETS
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Employee leave liabilities
Lease liabilities
Borrowings
Total Current Liabilities

11
12
13

Non-Current Liabilities
Lease liabilities
Employee leave liabilities
Borrowings
Total Non-Current Liabilities

12
13

TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
Equity
Issued capital
Option capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest
TOTAL EQUITY

15
16

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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4,500

26,441,000
(1,211,131)
5,049,459
45,601,593

4,500

1,800,001
(72,867)
15,182
15,322,265

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,500
-

-

-

15,322,265
-

Option
capital
A$
4,500
-

Issued
capital
A$
13,579,949
-

(118,691)
272,208

(118,691)

390,899
-

390,899

-

93,830

93,830

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
A$
297,069
-

(758,841)
7,922,101
8,268,608

-

1,105,348
-

(16,818)
(15,182)
248,723
1,105,348

-

-

-

Share
based
payment
reserve
A$
888,625
-

Page 22

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Balance at 1 July 2020
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
net of income tax
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Acquisition of non-controlling interest
Issue of shares and options (note 14, 15)
Capital raising costs (note 15)
Exercise of options/performance rights
Vesting of options/performance rights
Balance at 30 June 2021

Balance at 1 July 2019
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income for the
year net of income tax
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Non-controlling interest recognised on
asset acquisition (note 25, 27)
Issue of shares and options (note 14, 15)
Capital raising costs (note 15)
Transfer on cancellation of options
Exercise of options/performance rights
Vesting of options/performance rights
Balance at 30 June 2020

For the Year Ended 30 June 2021

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(3,014,276)

-

(3,014,276)
-

(3,014,276)

-

-

-

Common
control
reserve
A$
(3,014,276)
-

(19,199,277)
(12,970,137)
(44,550,789)

-

(12,381,375)
(19,199,277)

16,818
(12,381,375)

-

(3,985,856)

-

Accumulated
losses
A$
(8,412,337)
(3,985,856)

(1,852,689)
2,042,618
-

18,273

(189,929)
(1,870,962)

(189,929)

183,904

(373,833)

9,247

Noncontrolling
interest
A$
(383,080)

(21,170,657)
(10,927,519)
26,441,000
(1,211,131)
4,290,618
7,922,101
6,581,844

(100,418)

1,237,432
(21,070,239)

1,800,001
(72,867)
248,723
1,237,432

183,904

(4,265,859)

103,077

Total
A$
3,343,530
(4,368,936)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended 30 June 2021

Year ended 30
June 2021
A$

Year ended 30
June 2020
A$

Payments to suppliers and employees

(1,593,606)

(1,208,540)

Payments for exploration and evaluation

(8,330,815)

(2,674,607)

(34,089)

(51,911)

732

867

50,000

50,000

(9,907,778)

(3,884,191)

Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Payments for interest and other financing costs
Interest received
Government assistance received
Net cash used in operating activities

17

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Payment for acquisition of exploration assets

-

(729,667)

Payments for purchase of fixed assets

(122,605)

(8,644)

Payments for bonds and deposits

(144,701)

-

Net cash used in investing activities

(267,306)

(738,311)

19,791,118

1,800,001

(943,054)

(72,867)

Proceeds from borrowings

144,701

1,626,798

Repayments of borrowings

(154,926)

(11,373)

Repayment of lease liabilities

(129,019)

(100,590)

18,708,820

3,241,969

8,533,736

(1,380,533)

507,750

1,879,883

77,885

8,400

9,119,371

507,750

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from the issue of shares and options
Payments for the issue of shares and options

Net cash generated by financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
year
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

6

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended 30 June 2021

These consolidated financial statements and notes represent those of Eagle Mountain Mining Limited and its
controlled entities (the “Group”). Eagle Mountain Mining Limited is a public limited liability company, incorporated
and domiciled in Australia.
The Group is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. The
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 20 September 2021.

1.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Group in the preparation of the
financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

(a )

Basis of Prep aration
These general purpose financial statements for the reporting year ended 30 June 2021 have been prepared
in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The financial
statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical cost and does not
take into account changing money values or, except where stated, current valuations of non-current assets.
Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.
(i) Going Concern
The Group has incurred a loss of $21,070,239 and a net operating cash outflow of $9,907,778 during the
year ended 30 June 2021. Cash assets at 30 June 2021 were $9,119,371 and current liabilities at that date
were $2,730,346.
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which contemplates the
continuity of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal
course of business.
During the financial year, the Group successfully raised $15.5 million (before costs) pursuant to three
placements to institutional and sophisticated investors. The Directors will continue to manage the Group’s
activities with due regard to current and future funding requirements. The Directors reasonably expect
that the Company will be able to raise sufficient capital to fund the Group’s exploration and working capital
requirements, and that the Group will be able to settle debts as and when they become due and payable.
On this basis, the Directors are of the opinion that the use of the going concern basis is appropriate in the
circumstances.
(ii) Basis of Consolidation
The financial information comprises the financial information of Eagle Mountain and entities (including
special purpose entities) controlled by Eagle Mountain (its “subsidiaries”).
Control is achieved when Eagle Mountain:
•

has power over the investee;

•

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Eagle Mountain reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended 30 June 2021
1.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a ) Ba sis of P rep a ra tion (c o nti nu ed )
(ii) Basis of Consolidation (continued)
The financial information of subsidiaries is prepared for the same reporting period as Eagle Mountain, using
consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist. All inter-company balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intragroup transactions, have been eliminated in full. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless costs cannot be
recovered.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of Eagle Mountain and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date Eagle
Mountain gains control until the date when Eagle Mountain ceases to control the subsidiary.
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in
ownership interest, without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the
difference between the consideration transferred and the book value of the share of the non-controlling
interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to Eagle Mountain.
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between:
•

the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest; and

•

the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests.

All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit and loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by the
applicable Accounting Standards). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under AASB 9, or when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
(iii)

New Accounting Standards Adopted in the Current Year

Application of New and Revised Accounting Standards
The Group has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”) that are mandatory for the current reporting
period.
Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have
not been early adopted by the Group for the reporting year ended 30 June 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended 30 June 2021

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(iii)

New Accounting Standards Adopted in the Current Year (continued)

The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the Group:

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework)
The Group has adopted the revised Conceptual Framework from 1 July 2020. The Conceptual
Framework contains new definition and recognition criteria as well as new guidance on measurement
that affects several Accounting Standards, but it has not had a material impact on the Group's financial
statements.
New Accounting Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Mandatory or Early Adopted
The AASB has issued new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory
application date for future reporting periods. There are no material new or amended Accounting
Standards which will materially affect the Group.

(b ) E xp l o ra ti o n, E va l ua ti o n a nd D e vel o p m ent E xp end i t ure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure is generally written off in the year incurred, except for acquisition
of exploration properties which is capitalised and carried forward.
When production commences, any accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest which have been
capitalised and carried forward will be amortised over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion
of the economically recoverable resources. A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to
determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to the area of interest. The
carrying value of any capitalised expenditure is assessed by the Directors each reporting period to
determine if any provision should be made for the impairment of the carrying value. The appropriateness
of the Group’s ability to recover these capitalised costs has been assessed at the end of each reporting
period and the Directors are satisfied that the value is recoverable.
The carrying value of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment at an
overall level whenever facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of the assets may exceed
recoverable amount. An impairment exists when the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the estimated
recoverable amount. The assets are then written down to their recoverable amount. Any impairment losses
are recognised in the income statement.

(c) Trade and Other Receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally
due for settlement within 30 days.
The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on days overdue.
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

(d) Interest Income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended 30 June 2021

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Foreign Currency Transactions
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional currency of the Group.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported
at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined.
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Exchange differences arising on the
translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to the extent that the gain or loss is
directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange
rate at the reporting date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian
dollars using the average exchange rates for the period, which approximate the rates at the dates of the
transactions. All resulting foreign exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
through the foreign currency reserve in equity.
The foreign currency reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the foreign operation or net investment
is disposed of.

(f)

Operating Segments
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may
earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other
components of the same entity), whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's chief
operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess
its performance and for which discrete financial information is available. This includes start-up operations
which are yet to earn revenues. The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the Board of
Directors taken as a whole. Management will also consider other factors in determining operating
segments such as the existence of a line manager and the level of segment information presented to the
Board of Directors.
Operating segments have been identified based on the information provided to the Board of Directors.

( g) Bo rrowi ngs
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of
transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

( h) C o n ver ti b l e No te – Deriva ti ve L ia b ility
Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. The fair value of the derivative has been valued
using a valuation technique, including inputs that include reference to similar instruments and option
pricing models, which is updated each period. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of these
instruments together with settlements in the period are accounted for through the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income through net finance costs. The convertible note liability
and derivative are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligations specified in the
contract are discharged, cancelled or expired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended 30 June 2021

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i)

C o n v e r t i b l e N o t e – D e b t L iab i l i t y
The embedded derivative component of a convertible note is recognised initially at fair value and the debt
liability component is calculated as the difference between the financial instrument as a whole and the
value of the derivative liability at inception. Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the
convertible note debt liability and convertible note derivative liability in proportion to their initial carrying
amounts. Subsequent to initial recognition, the debt liability component of the convertible note is
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(j)

L ease L iab ilities
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised
at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental
borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably certain to
occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts
are remeasured if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or a rate used; residual guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination
penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of-use
asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down.

( k) C a s h a nd C a s h Eq ui va l e nts
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.

(l)

Imp air men t of Assets
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from the other assets, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generated unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. Where an impairment loss
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is
carried at fair value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
( m) P rop e rt y, P la nt a nd Eq uip men t
Property, plant and equipment assets are initially recognised at acquisition cost or manufacturing cost,
including any costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for
the assets to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the Group’s management.
Property, plant and equipment assets are subsequently measured using the cost model which reflects cost
less subsequent depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised on a diminishing value
basis to write down the cost less estimated residual value of the assets.
Leasehold improvements are capitalised and subsequently amortised over the term of the respective lease.
The following depreciation rates are applied to property, plant and equipment assets on the diminishing
value basis:
•
•

Motor vehicles: 25%
Other property, plant and equipment: 20-50%

Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least annually.
Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and equipment assets are determined as the
difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognised in
profit or loss within other income or other expenses.

( n)

R igh t-of -Use Asse ts
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured
at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred,
and, except where included in the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and restoring the site or asset.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Group expects to obtain ownership
of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-ofuse assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The Group has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term
leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are
expensed to profit or loss as incurred.

( o) Go o d s a nd S er vi c es Ta x ( GS T )
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”). In these circumstances, the GST is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables
and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability
in the statement of financial position.
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows
arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are
classified as operating cash flows.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(p ) Ta xa tion
The income tax expense (revenue) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and
deferred tax expense (income).
Current income tax expense charged to the profit and loss is the tax payable on the taxable income using
applicable income tax rates enacted or substantially enacted as at the end of the reporting period. Current
tax liabilities (assets) are therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the
relevant taxation authority.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial information. Deferred tax assets
also result where amounts have been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available. No deferred
income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business
combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.
Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can
be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future.

(q ) T ra d e a nd Other P a ya b l e s
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the
Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.

(r)

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of a past event,
for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably
measured.

(s) Employee benefits
Short Term Employee Benefits
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Other Long Term Employee Benefits
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the
reporting date are measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method.
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and
periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on
corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated
future cash outflows.

Defined Contribution Superannuation Expense
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t)

Share Based Payment Transactions
The Group recognises the fair value of options and performance rights granted to Directors, employees
and consultants as remuneration as an expense on a pro-rata basis over the vesting period in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.
The Group provides benefits to employees (including Directors) of the Group in the form of share based
payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares
(“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees (including
Directors) is measured by reference to fair value at the date they are granted. The fair value is determined
using the Black Scholes option pricing model.

( u ) I s s u e d C ap i t a l
Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Group. Any
transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of
the share proceeds received.

( v ) C ritic a l Ac c ounti ng Es tima tes a nd J ud gmen ts
In preparing the financial information, the Group has been required to make certain estimates and
assumptions concerning future occurrences. There is an inherent risk that the resulting accounting
estimates will not equate exactly with actual events and results.
(i)

Significant Accounting Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:
Acquisition of Oracle Ridge Copper Mine
AASB 3 Business Combinations defines a business as being “an integrated set of activities and assets that
is capable of being conducted and managed for the purposes of providing a return in the form of dividends,
lower costs or other economic benefits directly to investors or other owners, members or participants.” A
business usually consists of inputs, processes and outputs. Inputs and processes are the essential
elements that have to be present in order to be classified as a business. Although a business usually has
outputs, outputs are not required for an integrated set of assets to qualify as a business.
In November 2019, the Group acquired an 80% share in the Oracle Ridge Copper Mine in Arizona in the
United States of America. Management have accounted for this transaction as an acquisition of assets and
not as a business combination since, at the date of acquisition, the Oracle Ridge Copper Mine did not have
the processes and outputs expected of an operating business. In May 2021, the Company issued
10,000,000 shares to acquire the remaining 20% of the issued capital of Wedgetail Operations LLC, the
owner of the Oracle Ridge Copper Mine, which resulted in the full consolidation of that entity in the Group’s
financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i)

Significant Accounting Judgements (continued)

Capitalisation of Operating Leases

Determination of lease term
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or
periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to
be extended (or not terminated).
The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Group becomes
obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant
event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within the
control of the lessee.

Determination of incremental borrowing rate
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used.
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, where possible recent third party financing received by the
individual lessee is used as a starting point and adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since
third party financing was received. If there was no recent third party financing agreement, a build-up
approach is used that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for the lessee and any
further relevant adjustments specific to the lease (such as term, country, currency and security).
(ii)

Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and
assumptions of future events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual
reporting period are:

Key Estimates – Impairment of Capitalised Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number
of factors, including whether the Group decides to exploit the related lease itself or, if not, whether it
successfully recovers the related exploration and evaluation asset through sale.
Factors that could impact the future recoverability include the level of reserves and resources, future
technological changes, costs of drilling and production, production rates, future legal changes (including
changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices.

Key Estimates – Share Based Payment Transactions
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value
of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Fair values of share options are determined
using the Black Scholes option pricing model. Should the assumptions used in these calculations differ, the
amounts recognised could significantly change.

Key Assumptions – Oracle Ridge Mine Acquisition: Valuation of derivative liability
As part of the acquisition of the Oracle Ridge Copper Mine, a US$6,423,000 secured note was issued to
Vincere Resource Holdings LLC. Up to US$3,000,000 of the secured note can be converted into shares of
the Company upon the occurrence of various conversion trigger events at variable conversion prices. To
derive the fair value of the embedded derivative liability component of the secured note, a number of
assumptions have been made. These assumptions are outlined in note 13.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(ii)

Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions (continued)

Key Judgement – Environmental Issues
Balances disclosed in the financial statements and notes thereto are not adjusted for any pending or
enacted environmental legislation. At the current stage of the Group’s development and its current
environmental impact, the Directors believe such treatment is reasonable and appropriate.

Key Judgement – COVID-19 pandemic
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group based
on known information. Other than as addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be
either any significant impact upon the financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to
events or conditions which may impact the Group unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

(w) Fair Valu e of Assets and L iabilit ies
The Group is required to classify all assets and liabilities, measured at fair value, using a three level hierarchy
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being Level 1:
Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at
the measurement date; Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
Considerable judgement is required to determine what is significant to fair value and therefore which
category the asset or liability is placed in can be subjective.
The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring
basis, depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard.
Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in
an orderly unforced transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at
the measurement date and is based on the fair value hierarchy.

( x ) Go ve rnm ent a ss i s ta nc e a nd g ra nts
Assistance received from the government by way of grant or other forms of assistance designed to provide
an economic benefit to the Group, is presented in the statement of financial position as deferred income,
in instances where the grant is related to assets. In all other cases, grant money is presented in the profit
and loss as other income. Grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that conditions will
be complied with and the grant will be received.

( y ) Ea rnin gs p er sha re
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of the parent entity,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration
in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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2.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between related parties are on commercial terms and conditions, no more favourable than those
available to other parties unless otherwise stated.
o

During the prior year, the Company entered into an unsecured loan agreement with a director related
entity, Quartz Mountain Mining Pty Ltd (“Quartz Mountain”) as trustee for the Bass Family Trust. The
principal of US$1,000,000 attracts interest at 2% per annum with the first three months being interest free.
The loan’s initial maturity date of 27 October 2020 was subsequently deferred to 31 December 2021.
During the reporting period, shareholders approved the issue to Quartz Mountain of 950,000 options,
exercisable at 20 cents each on or before 1 July 2022, as satisfaction of interest owing to 31 December
2021. Interest expense of US$20,372 (A$28,640) was recognised during the reporting period.

o

The Company has entered into a lease agreement with Elk Mountain Mining Limited, an entity associated
with Mr Charles Bass, for the lease of the Company’s administration offices in Perth, Western Australia.
Total lease repayments of $87,387 (2020: $85,847) were paid during the year, including interest of $19,064
(2020: $35,402) and lease principal repayments of $68,323 (2020: $50,445).

3.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

Audit and review of the financial statements
Taxation services
Total

Year ended
30 June 2021
A$
26,300

Year ended
30 June 2020
A$
29,000

2,460

5,620

28,760

34,620

The auditor of Eagle Mountain Mining Limited is William Buck Audit (WA) Pty Ltd. During the reporting period a
related entity of William Buck Audit (WA) Pty Ltd provided non-audit services amounting to $2,460 (2020: $5,620)
to companies in the Group.

4.

LOSS FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Included in the loss before income tax are the
following specific items of income/(expenses):
Interest paid/payable on borrowings

Year ended
30 June 2020
A$

(363,822)

(196,556)

(30,914)

(50,725)

Share based payments expense - employees

(6,450,069)

(248,723)

Share based payments expense - suppliers

(1,094,000)

-

Movements in employee leave liabilities

(27,558)

2,257

Project assessment/due diligence costs

-

(196,260)

Interest paid/payable on leases
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5.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Year ended 30 June
2021
A$
Current tax:
Current income tax charge/(benefit)

-

-

(424,539)

(466,738)

424,539

466,738

-

-

(21,070,239)

(4,368,936)

(6,321,072)

(1,201,457)

(15,000)

-

Exploration costs not deducted for tax

2,169,118

747,198

Non-deductible share based payments

2,263,221

68,399

(94,486)

(79,584)

683,123

(73,940)

1,315,096
-

539,384
-

42,999
41,228

25,165
-

84,227

25,165

41,830
6,212

16,204

1,502,046

1,140,039

302,519
1,852,607

212,863
1,369,106

1,768,380

1,343,941

Current income tax benefit not recognised
Deferred tax:
Relating to origination and reversal of timing
differences
Deferred tax benefit not recognised

(a)

Year ended 30 June
2020
A$

The prima facie tax on loss from ordinary activities
before income tax is reconciled to the income tax
as follows:
Loss before tax
The prima facie tax on loss from ordinary activities
attributable to parent entity before income tax:
Prima facie tax (benefit) on loss from ordinary
activities before income tax at 30% (2020: 27.5%)

Add/(Less) tax effect of:
Non-assessable income

Share issue costs deducted
Unrealised movement in fair value of financial
liabilities
Deferred tax asset not brought to account
Income tax attributable to entity
(b) Deferred tax – statement of financial position

Liabilities

Prepaid expenses
Foreign exchange

Assets
Employee leave and other employee liabilities
Right-of-use asset
Revenue losses available to offset against future
taxable income
Deductible equity raising costs
Net deferred tax asset not recognised
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5.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
Year ended 30
June 2021
A$

Year ended 30 June
2020
A$

(c) Deferred tax – income statement

Liabilities

Prepaid expenses
Foreign exchange

(17,834)
(41,228)

(15,362)
-

25,626
6,212
89,756
362,007
424,539

(11,941)
(129)

Assets
Accrued expenses
Employee leave and other employee liabilities
Right-of-use asset
Deductible equity raising costs
Increase in tax losses carried forward
Deferred tax benefit movement not recognised

34,068
460,102
466,738

The deferred tax benefit of tax losses not brought to account will only be obtained if:
(i)
The Company derives future assessable income of a nature and an amount sufficient to enable the benefit
from the tax losses to be realised;
(ii)
The Company continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; and
(iii)
No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Company realising the benefit from the deduction of the losses.

6.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank

30 June 2021
A$

30 June 2020
A$

9,119,371

507,750

-

-

9,119,371

507,750

Deposits at call
Total

Included in cash at bank of $9,119,371 (2020: $507,750) are amounts held in US dollar denominated bank
accounts equivalent to $5,306,502 (2020: $302,637).

7.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
30 June 2021
A$

30 June 2020
A$

4,511

2,961

Accrued income and other receivables

158,291

43,839

Prepaid expenses and deposits

143,329

91,509

Total

306,131

138,309

GST receivable

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their
short-term nature.
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8.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE
30 June 2021
A$

30 June 2020
A$

10,378,496

1,164,027

-

9,281,112

Movement during the year
Carrying value – beginning of year
Recognised on acquisition of Oracle Ridge Copper Mine (note

25)1

Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates

(904,218)

(66,643)

Carrying value – end of the year

9,474,278

10,378,496

1Capitalised

exploration asset acquisition costs recognised on acquisition of the Oracle Ridge Copper Mine.
Exploration and evaluation expenditure is held by Wedgetail Operations LLC, which is a 100% (2020: 80%) owned
US based subsidiary of Wedgetail Holdings LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary in the Group.
Carried forward exploration and evaluation expenditure at 30 June 2021 represents the exploration asset
acquisition costs recognised on the acquisition of Silver Mountain Mining Pty Ltd and the Oracle Ridge Copper
Mine.
The recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent upon successful
development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest.

9.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold
improvements

Cost at the beginning of the year
Effect
of
foreign
exchange
movements
Additions
Cost at the end of the year
Accumulated depreciation at the
beginning of the year
Effect
of
foreign
exchange
movements
Depreciation charged in the year
Accumulated depreciation at the
end of the year
Net book value at the beginning of
the year
Net book value at the end of the
year

Field
equipment
and vehicles

Mine plant
and
equipment

Total

A$
357,712

Office
equipment
and
furniture
A$
91,496

A$
300,380

A$
1,001,221

A$
1,750,809

(5,303)

(4,075)

(24,753)

(87,231)

(121,362)

-

13,544

18,964

89,319

121,827

352,409

100,965

294,591

1,003,309

1,751,274

(189,927)

(67,838)

(117,976)

(109,434)

(485,175)

3,775

3,061

9,146

10,767

26,749

(76,711)

(12,034)

(42,440)

(183,712)

(314,897)

(262,863)

(76,811)

(151,270)

(282,379)

(773,323)

167,785

23,658

182,404

891,787

1,265,634

89,546

24,154

143,321

720,930

977,951

Assets with a net book value of A$28,440 (2020: A$41,539) held by Silver Mountain Mining Operations Inc. are
pledged as security in respect of vehicle loan liabilities (refer note 13).
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10.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET
30 June 2021
A$

30 June 2020
A$

Opening balance

208,493

322,131

Right-of-use asset additions

439,957

-

(129,324)

(121,386)

12,076

7,748

531,202

208,493

Depreciation expense
Foreign currency differences
Total

The Group leases land and buildings for its offices in Perth, Australia and Arizona, United States of America under
agreements with terms of up to five years.

11.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
30 June 2021
A$

30 June 2020
A$

853,254

30,508

Other payables

1,797

70,478

Payroll liabilities

218,603

78,458

1,073,654

179,444

Current
Trade creditors and accrued expenses

Total

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their shortterm nature.

12.

LEASE LIABILITIES
30 June 2021
A$

30 June 2020
A$

Current liability

211,127

111,315

Non-current liability

340,781

117,895

Total

551,908

229,210

229,210

322,131

Movement in lease liabilities
Opening balance
Increase in liability due to additional leases
Principal repayments
Foreign currency differences
Lease liabilities at the end of the year

439,957

-

(129,017)

(100,590)

11,758

7,669

551,908

229,210

At the beginning of and during the financial year, the Group did not have any short-term leases or leases of low
value assets.
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13.

BORROWINGS
30 June 2021
A$

30 June 2020
A$

10,156

11,126

Current
Vehicle loan amounts due within one year 1

-

155,763

1,330,141

1,469,436

1,340,297

1,636,325

Loan – derivative liability

3,297,591

1,134,644

Loan – debt liability

7,705,643

8,140,713

11,003,234

9,275,357

3,479

14,936

11,006,713

9,290,293

Loan – Paycheck Protection Program

2

Loans from related parties 3

Non-Current

Subtotal loan 4
Vehicle loan amounts due after one year
1 Vehicle

loan amounts are secured over assets with a net book value of A$28,440 (2020: A$41,539) held by Silver
Mountain Mining Operations Inc. (refer note 9).
A wholly owned US subsidiary of the Company qualified for a US$106,900 loan under the US Government’s
Paycheck Protection Program, an initiative intended to incentivise employers to retain workers during the COVID
crisis. The loan attracted interest at a rate of 1% per annum. In December 2020, the Small Business Administration
reviewed the Company’s eligibility for loan forgiveness and approved the forgiveness of entire loan balance.
2

3 The Company entered into an unsecured loan agreement with a Director-related entity, Quartz Mountain Mining
Pty Ltd (“Quartz Mountain”) as trustee for the Bass Family Trust. The principal of US$1,000,000 attracts interest at
2% per annum with the first three months being interest free. The loan’s maturity date was deferred from 27
October 2020 to 31 December 2021. In September 2020, shareholders approved the issue of 950,000 options to
Quartz Mountain as satisfaction of interest owing to 31 December 2021. The balance outstanding in borrowings at
balance date represents the principal of US$1,000,000 translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting
period. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Quartz Mountain agreed to the issue of 1,744,000 shares in
lieu of repayment of the US$1,000,000 principal (refer note 19).
4 In

November 2019, the Group acquired an 80% interest in the Oracle Ridge Copper Mine in Arizona in the United
States of America, and during the current reporting period acquired the additional 20% interest. Under the terms
of the purchase agreement, Wedgetail Operations LLC, a subsidiary in which the Company now holds a 100%
interest, entered into a US$6,423,000 secured loan with Vincere Resource Holdings LLC. The loan is secured over
all of the assets of Wedgetail Operations LLC, has a ten year term and accrues interest at 3.15% per annum for the
first five years with no interest accruing thereafter.
Under the terms of the agreement, the lender has the right to convert up to US$1,000,000 of the secured loan into
ordinary shares of the Company upon each of the following three conversion trigger events:
i.
ii.
iii.

The completion of a preliminary feasibility study;
A commitment is made to proceed with a bankable feasibility study; and
A commitment is made to commission the financing of the project as evidenced by a feasibility study
sufficient to obtain third party financing.

The terms of the agreement prevent the issue of ordinary shares to the lender where the cumulative amount of
shares held as a result of exercising the conversion rights would exceed 10% of the Company’s ordinary shares on
issue.
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13.

BORROWINGS (continued)

The conversion price of each conversion right held by the lender is an amount equal to a 20% discount to the 30
day volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares for the 30 days immediately after the date of public
announcement of the applicable conversion trigger event.
The face value of US$6,423,000 is deemed to comprise of the value of the derivative liability (or conversion right),
with the residual being the debt liability component. The debt liability component of the secured loan is amortised
at each reporting period using the effective interest method. The derivative liability component is revalued at each
reporting date over the life of the secured loan.

Fair Value Measurement
The derivative liability component of the US$6,423,000 loan is measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three
level hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement. Refer to
accounting policy note 1(x) for a description of the three levels. The derivative liability has been categorised as Level
3 in the fair value hierarchy and the fair value at the end of the reporting period was A$3,297,591.
There were no transfers between levels during the financial year.
An independent valuation of the derivative liability has been undertaken at 30 June 2021 using a Monte Carlo
simulation model with the following assumptions:
Assumptions
Valuation date
Spot price (A$) 1
Exercise price 2
Risk free rate
Expected future volatility
Expiry date 3
1 The

Conversion Event 1
30 June 2021
$1.000
$0.814
0.20%
100%
25 November 2023

Conversion Event 2
30 June 2021
$1.000
$0.820
0.77%
100%
25 November 2024

Conversion Event 3
30 June 2021
$1.000
$0.823
0.77%
100%
25 November 2025

share price of an EM2 share traded on the ASX to market close on 30 June 2021.

2 Exercise

price is equal to a 20% discount to the estimated volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares
for the 30 days immediately after the public announcement of the applicable conversion trigger event.

The expiry date is the estimated date on which the conversion right will be exercised, for each tranche of
conversion rights and is estimated from the date of the agreement.
3

Based on the above assumptions, the revaluation of the derivative liability resulted in a fair value loss of
US$1,700,423 (A$2,277,075) which has been recognised through the profit and loss.
In relation to the restriction of conversion rights up to 10% of the ordinary shares on issue, the valuation is based
on the number of shares on issue at valuation date.

Reconciliation of movement in Level 3 derivative liability

30 June 2021
A$

30 June 2020
A$

1,134,644

-

Movement during the year
Balance at the start of the financial year

-

1,365,785

Loss/(gain) recognised in profit or loss

2,277,075

(268,872)

Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates

(114,128)

37,731

Balance at the end of the financial year

3,297,591

1,134,644

Fair value on acquisition
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13.

BORROWINGS (continued)

Unobservable inputs for fair value measurement
In determining the fair value measurement of the derivative liability, certain observable inputs such as the share
price and exercise price of the conversion rights are used, together with unobservable inputs.
The unobservable inputs used in the valuation of the derivative liability are deemed to be:
1.
2.

Issued capital – as the conversion rights are restricted to not more than 10% of the ordinary shares on issue,
any increase in issued shares may impact the number of conversion rights that can be exercised; and
Timing of the three milestones to be achieved (conversion trigger events).

The Level 3 unobservable inputs and sensitivity are as follows:
Unobservable Input

Change in input

Shares on Issue

+15%

Date of conversion trigger
event

-6 months

Date of conversion trigger
event

+6 months

14.

Sensitivity
A 15% increase in share capital will result in
no increase in fair value
A decrease of 6 months in achieving the first
and subsequent milestones will result in a
decrease in fair value of approximately
$176,000
An increase of 6 months in achieving the
first and subsequent milestones will result in
an increase in fair value of approximately
$155,000

OPTIONS AND EQUITY BASED PAYMENTS

Options – Reconciliation of Movements

Options on issue at the beginning of the year
Broker options issued1
Options issued to employees2
Options issued to Directors
Options issued to Quartz Mountain Mining Pty Ltd3
Options issued pursuant to corporate advisory mandate
Options cancelled on expiry of offer options – entitlement offer4
Options cancelled on expiry – employee options
Options exercised
Options on issue at the end of the year

30 June
2021
No.
26,409,716
3,846,154
6,825,000
6,375,000
950,000
2,000,000
(16,953,090)
29,452,780

30 June
2020
No.
23,801,315
3,950,000
(26,599)
(1,315,000)
26,409,716

1 Unlisted

broker option issued pursuant to a capital raising mandate.
options issued to employees of the Company pursuant to the Company’s employee incentive plan.
3 Unlisted options issued in lieu of interest payable on a loan from Quartz Mountain Mining Pty Ltd.
4 The Company issued options at a price of 1 cent per option pursuant to an entitlement offer exercisable at 40
cents each expiring 15 December 2018. Upon exercise into shares the holder received a further option for each
share exercised at 80 cents each and expiring 12 months from issue.
2 Unlisted
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OPTIONS AND EQUITY BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Option Capital – Reconciliation of Movements

Balance at the beginning of the year
Movements during the year

No.
Options outstanding at the beginning
of the year
Options granted during the year
Options exercised during the year
Options cancelled and expired
unexercised during the year
Options outstanding at 30 June

30 June
2021
A$
4,500
-

30 June
2020
A$
4,500
-

4,500

4,500

20 21
Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
(cents)

No.

2020
Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
(cents)

26,409,716
19,996,154
(16,953,090)

23. 5
51 .6
25.3

23,801,315
3,950,000
-

23.8
20.6
-

-

-

(1,341,599)

21.2

29,452,780

41.6

26,409,716

23.5

Basis and Assumptions Used in the Valuation of Options
The options issued during the year were valued using the Black Scholes option valuation methodology, using the
following inputs:

Date granted
23 July 2020
28 July 2020
28 July 2020
25 September 2020
18 February 2021
22 February 2021
30 April 2021
5 May 2021
14 May 2021

Number of
options
granted
1,325,000
1,923,077
1,923,077
1,325,000
2,500,000
2,800,000
6,000,000
2,000,000
200,000

Exercise
price
(cents)
20
20
30
20
52
52
55
125
140

Expiry date
1 July 2022
30 June 2021
1 July 2022
1 July 2022
22 February 2024
1 July 2024
1 July 2024
7 May 2023
1 July 2024

Risk free
interest
rate used
0.26%
0.26%
0.26%
0.21%
0.11%
0.11%
0.11%
0.07%
0.10%

Volatility
applied
102%
102%
102%
97%
103%
103%
103%
103%
103%

Value of
Options
$82,415
$124,615
$143,462
$210,544
$354,350
$746,480
$5,856,600
$1,094,000
$105,900

Historical volatility over the previous 12 months has been used as the expected share price volatility. An expense
of $7,498,742 has been recognised through the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 30 June 2021 (2020: $89,106) in respect of the vesting of options during the year.

Weighted Average Contractual Life
The weighted average contractual life for unexercised options is 38.2 months (2020: 19.2 months).
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OPTIONS AND EQUITY BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Performance Rights
During the year ended 30 June 2021, 60,000 performance rights vested and 210,000 performance rights were
exercised. No performance rights were issued or cancelled during the financial year. An expense of $4,327 has been
recognised for the year ended 30 June 2021 (2020: $19,252) in respect of the vesting of performance rights during
the year.

15.

ISSUED CAPITAL

Shares

Issue
price

Balance at the beginning of the year
Shares issued on exercise of
options
Shares issued on exercise of
performance rights
Entitlement issue shares issued
Placement shares issued
Placement shares issued
Placement shares issued
Shares issued for acquisition
Employee incentive shares issued
Less: share issue costs – cash *
Balance at 30 June

Year ended
30 June 2021
Shares

Year ended
30 June 2020

A$

Shares

A$

115,901,045

15,322,265

103,816,039

13,579,949

$0.20
$0.30

16,953,090

5,011,009

-

-

-

210,000

38,450

85,000

15,182

$0.15

-

-

12,000,006

1,800,001

$0.13

23,076,923

3,000,000

-

-

$0.30

5,000,000

1,500,000

-

-

$0.35

31,428,572

11,000,000

-

-

$1.09

10,000,000

10,900,000

-

-

$0.41

100,000

41,000

-

-

-

-

(1,211,131)

-

(72,867)

202,669,630

45,601 593

115,901,045

15,322,265

* No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the share issue costs as at the date of the financial
report as it is not probable that it will be realised (refer note 5).
The Company is a public company limited by shares. The Company was incorporated in Perth, Western Australia.
The Company’s shares are limited whereby the liability of its members is limited to the amount (if any) unpaid on
the shares respectively held by them.
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of hands every holder of ordinary
shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled
to one vote.
Ordinary shares have no par value. There is no limit to the authorised share capital of the Company.

16.

RESERVES

Foreign currency translation reserve
Share based payments reserve
Common control reserve

EAGLE MOUNTAIN MINING
Page| 2021
43 Annual Report

30 June 2021
A$

30 June 2020
A$

272,208

390,899

8,268,608

1,105,348

(3,014,276)

(3,014,276)

5,526,540

(1,518,029)
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RESERVES (continued)

Movements in reserves:

a)

Year ended
30 June 2021
A$

Year ended
30 June 2020
A$

390,899

297,069

(100,418)

103,077

Non-controlling interest in translation differences

(18,273)

(9,247)

Balance at the end of the year

272,208

390,899

Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year
Exchange (loss)/gain for the year

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve records unrealised exchange gains and losses on translation of
controlled entities accounts during the year.

b)

Year ended
30 June 2021
A$

Year ended
30 June 2020
A$

Balance at the beginning of the year

1,105,348

888,625

Fair value vesting expense of options and performance rights

7,922,101

248,723

Fair value of options/performance rights exercised during the year

(758,841)

(15,182)

-

(16,818)

8,268,608

1,105,348

Share based payments reserve

Fair value of options cancelled during the year
Balance at the end of the year

Share based payments reserve
The share based payments reserve has been used to recognise the fair value of options and performance
rights issued and vested but not exercised as at the end of the reporting year.

c)

Year ended
30 June 2021
A$

Year ended
30 June 2020
A$

(3,014,276)

(3,014,276)

Common control reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year
Common control transactions during the year
Balance at the end of the year

-

-

(3,014,276)

(3,014,276)

Common control reserve
The amount recognised in the common control reserve represents the excess in fair value consideration
given, over the net assets acquired, on the acquisition of Silver Mountain Mining Pty Ltd from Silver
Mountain Mining Nominees Pty Ltd on 7 December 2017.
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17.

CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities with loss after income
tax
Loss after income tax

Year ended
30 June 2021
A$

Year ended
30 June 2020
A$

(21,070,239)

(4,368,936)

Non-cash items included in profit or loss
444,220

387,772

(246,025)

(2,390)

Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative liability

2,277,075

(268,872)

Share based payment expense

7,544,069

248,743

Forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Program loan

(147,921)

-

361,449

195,370

(116,002)

(27,822)

(51,820)

(55,861)

Depreciation expense
Gains on foreign exchange

Accrued interest expense
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
(Decrease)/increase in employee leave liabilities
(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable and accruals
Net cash outflows from operating activities

18.

56,053

(468)

1,041,363

8,273

(9,907,778)

(3,884,191)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

AASB 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate
resources to the segment and to assess its performance.
The Group operates in one segment, being exploration for mineral resources. This is the basis on which internal
reports are provided to the Directors for assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources
within the Group.
Following the acquisition of Silver Mountain Mining Pty Ltd on 7 December 2017, and the Oracle Ridge Copper
Mine in November 2019, the Group operates in Australia and United States of America.
Information regarding the non-current assets by geographical location is reported below. No segment information
is provided for United States of America in relation to revenue and profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2021
or year ended 30 June 2020.
Reconciliation of Non-Current Assets by Geographical Location
30 June 2021
A$
Australia
United States of America
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30 June 2020
A$

202,911

329,533

11,040,979

11,656,035

11,243,890

11,985,568
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19.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In August 2021, Quartz Mountain Mining Pty Ltd as trustee for the Bass Family Trust, an entity associated with Mr
Charles Bass, has agreed to accept 1,744,000 shares in the Company in lieu of repayment of a US$1,000,000 loan
which was due to be repaid by 31 December 2021. The issue of shares is subject to shareholder approval and the
effective issue price of 78.4 cents represents a premium to the closing price on 25 August 2021 and a 10% premium
to the 20 day VWAP of the Company’s shares.
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is ongoing. The situation is dependent on measures imposed by the
Australian Government, United States Government and other countries, such as maintaining social distancing
requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that may be provided. It is not practicable
to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date.
Other than as stated above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date
of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the
operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial
years.

20.

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

(a)

Directors and Key Management Personnel

The following persons were Directors or Key Management Personnel of Eagle Mountain Mining Limited during the
financial year:

(i)

Chairman – Non-Executive
Rick Crabb

(ii)

Executive Director
Charles Bass, Managing Director

(iii)

Non-Executive Director
Roger Port
Brett Rowe (as Alternate Director to Charles Bass)

(iv)

Chief Executive Officer
Timothy Mason

There were no other persons employed by or contracted to the Company during the financial year, having
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, either directly or indirectly.

(b)

Key Management Personnel Compensation

A summary of total compensation paid to Key Management Personnel is as follows:

Total short term employment benefits
Total equity-based payments
Total post-employment benefits
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30 June 2021
A$
409,166
6,001,523
33,333

30 June 2020
A$
211,159
59,240
19,142

6,444,022

289,541
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21.

CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Group has an exploration service agreement with Dragon’s Deep Exploration, Inc., an Arizona corporation
(“Dragon”). Included in this agreement is a performance bonus payable to Dragon consisting of cash together with
shares in Eagle Mountain Mining Limited (shares at market price, escrowed as required by the appropriate
exchange) within 10 days of the events detailed below:
Criteria (Specifically related to the Silver Mountain Project)
Minimum of 24 holes completed by the Group with 70% success
within 24 months of first drilling1
Commencement of a preliminary feasibility study in respect of
any land covered by any mining claims or permits held by Silver
Mountain Mining LLC and located in Arizona, USA.2
1.
2.

Cash Bonus

Shares of
Value

US$50,000

US$150,000

US$100,000

US$200,000

Success defined as a minimum 40 gram-metre zone (Au equivalent) within each drill hole for 70% of noncondemnation holes drilled.
The milestone satisfaction date is the date on which the Company announces to the Australian Securities
Exchange that it has commenced a pre-feasibility study on the relevant mining claims or permits. “Prefeasibility Study” is as defined in the Australian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves (2012 Edition).

Phase 1 drilling commenced at the Silver Mountain Project on 1 October 2018 and ended in early June 2019. On
this basis, the first criterion listed above has not been met. The Group does not currently foresee a preliminary
feasibility study covering the claims held by Silver Mountain Mining LLC commencing in the near future.
Other than the above, the Group has no contingent assets or liabilities outstanding at the end of the year.

22.

COMMITMENTS

(a)

Exploration Expenditure
In order to maintain the current tenure status of its exploration assets, the Group has certain obligations
and minimum expenditure requirements with respect to unpatented claims and Arizona state exploration
permits located in Arizona in the United States of America, as follows:
30 June 2021
30 June 2020
A$
A$
Within 1 year
495,458
464,192
After 1 year but not more than 5 years

1,886,060

Total

2,381,518

1,943,611
2,407,803

(b)

Asset Acquisition
The Group has no commitments for asset acquisitions at 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020.

(c)

Other Commitments
A 30-day notice period is required under the drilling contract with Boart Longyear during which time Boart
Longyear is entitled to claim standby rates. The estimated commitment, should the contract be terminated, is
approximately US$500,000.
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22.

COMMITMENTS (continued)

(c)

Other Commitments (continued)

In April 2021 the Company acquired the remaining 20% of the issued capital of Wedgetail Operations LLC (“WTO”) (refer
Note 25). Having completed that acquisition and with the Group considering requirements for development it notes the
existence of a Reversionary Interest in the Mineral Rights held by Marble Mountain Ventures LLC (MMV) over certain of
the Patented Claims covering the mine and also related to surface access rights as noted in an Industrial Property Lease
agreement (Lease Agreement). In order to maintain access to the surface infrastructure and undertake the current drill
program the Company makes lease payments of approximately US$160,000 per annum to MMV pursuant to the Lease
Agreement (refer Note 22(a)) together with additional access payments for drilling.
The Company was of the view that the Reversionary Interest (being the reversion back to MMV of all rights to minerals in
the mine area) may have been extinguished through the Receivership process which took place. However recent legal
advice has confirmed that the Reversionary Interest is likely to have survived. The Reversionary Interest is provided for in
a deed dated 18 February 2010, with reversion set to occur on 18 February 2025, unless an Extension Option is exercised
by WTO. In order to exercise the Extension Option WTO needs to provide 30 days written Notice; make an Extension
Payment in the order of US$3 million adjusted for CPI; and remain in compliance with various related agreements. Should
WTO agree to exercise the Extension Option, WTO’s interest in the mineral rights related to certain of the Patented Claims
will be extended to 18 February 2040.

23.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has exposure to a variety of risks arising from its use of financial instruments. This note presents
information about the Company’s exposure to the specific risks, and the policies and processes for measuring and
managing those risks. The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the risk management framework
and has adopted a Risk Management Policy.

(a)

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from transactions with customers and
investments.

Trade and Other Receivables
The nature of the business activity of the Group does not result in trading receivables. The receivables that
the Group does experience through its normal course of business are short term and the most significant
recurring by quantity is receivable from the Australian Taxation Office. The risk of non-recovery of
receivables from this source is considered to be negligible.

Cash Deposits
The Directors believe any risk associated with the use of predominantly one bank is addressed through the
use of at least an A-rated bank as a primary banker. Except for this matter the Group currently has no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

(b)

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The Group manages its liquidity risk by monitoring its cash reserves and forecast spending. Management
is cognisant of the future demands for liquid finance resources to finance the Company’s current and future
operations, and consideration is given to the liquid assets available to the Company before commitment is
made to future expenditure or investment.
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23.
(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimising any return.

Interest Rate Risk
The Group has cash assets which may be susceptible to fluctuations in changes in interest rates. Whilst the
Group requires the cash assets to be sufficiently liquid to cover any planned or unforeseen future
expenditure, which prevents the cash assets being committed to long term fixed interest arrangements,
the Group does mitigate potential interest rate risk by entering into short to medium term fixed interest
investments.

Equity Risk
The Group has no direct exposure to equity risk.

Foreign Exchange Risk
The Group holds a portion of its cash assets in US dollar denominated bank accounts and bank deposits.
The Group is also significantly exposed to foreign exchange risk through transactions and arrangements in
respect of its US based operations.
Other than the above, the Group does not have any direct contact with foreign exchange fluctuations other
than their effect on the general economy.
The Group seeks to mitigate foreign exchange risk by considering capital requirements and foreign
exchange rates when undertaking treasury transactions, such as utilising US dollar denominated term
deposits.

24.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit Risk
The Directors do not consider that the Group’s financial assets are subject to anything more than a negligible level
of credit risk, and as such no disclosures are made (refer note 23(a)).

Impairment Losses
The Directors do not consider that any of the Group’s financial assets are subject to impairment at the reporting
date. No impairment expense or reversal of impairment charge has occurred during the financial year.

Interest Rate Risk
At the reporting date the interest profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Fixed rate instruments
Financial liabilities
Variable rate instruments
Financial assets
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Carrying
amount ($)
20 21

Carrying
amount ($)
2020

(8,992,048)

(10,926,618)

9,119,371

507,750
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24.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Cash Flow Sensitivity Analysis for Variable Rate Instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity and
profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
Profit or loss
1%
1%
increase decrease

Equity
1%
1%
increase decrease

20 21
Variable rate instruments

91,193

(91,193)

91,193

(91,193)

2020
Variable rate instruments

5,077

(5,077)

5,077

(5,077)

Foreign Exchange Risk
At the reporting date the Australian dollar equivalent of amounts recognised by the Group in US dollars were as
follows:
Carrying
Carrying
amount ($)
amount ($)
20 21
2020
Financial assets
Cash at bank
Deposits at call
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

5,306,502
-

302,637
-

5,306,502

302,637

(962,703)
(12,347,010)

(93,695)
(10,926,618)

(13,309,713)

(11,020,313)

Cash Flow Sensitivity Analysis for Foreign Exchange
A change in foreign exchange rates of 5% at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity and profit
or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
Profit or loss
5%
5%
increase
decrease
20 21
Financial assets

217,134

(217,134)

48,191

(48,191)

Financial liabilities

665,486

(665,486)

665,486

(665,486)

-

-

15,132

(15,132)

551,016

(551,016)

551,016

(551,016)

2020
Financial assets
Financial liabilities
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5%
increase
decrease

EAGLE MOUNTAIN MINING
2021 Annual Report
Page| 50

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended 30 June 2021
24.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Liquidity Risk
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and
excluding the impact of netting agreements (refer note 23(b)):
Consolidated

Carrying
amount
$

Contractual
cash flows
$

<6
months
$

6-12
months
$

1-2 years

2-5 years

> 5 years

$

$

$

1,073,654
9,049,419
551,908

1,073,654
9,050,483
551,908

1,073,654
1,335,618
101,174

5,477
109,953

3,745
195,370

145,411

7,705,643
-

10,674,981

10,676,045

2,510,446

115,430

199,115

145,411

7,705,643

3,297,591

3,297,591

-

-

-

-

3,297,591

3,297,591

3,297,591

-

-

-

-

3,297,591

179,444
9,791,974
229,210

179,444
9,794,013
229,210

179,444
1,475,436
60,396

6,000
50,918

167,762
77,067

4,102
40,829

8,140,713
-

10,200,628

10,202,667

1,715,276

56,918

244,829

44,931

8,140,713

1,134,644

1,134,644

-

-

-

-

1,134,644

1,134,644

1,134,644

-

-

-

-

1,134,644

2021

Non-Derivatives
Trade and other
payables
Borrowings
Lease liabilities

Derivatives
Derivative
liability

2020

Non-Derivatives
Trade and other
payables
Borrowings
Lease liabilities

Derivatives
Derivative
liability
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended 30 June 2021
24.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair Values
Fair Values Versus Carrying Amounts
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of
financial position, are as follows:
Consolidated
2021
Carrying
Fair value
amount
$
$
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Lease liabilities

Consolidated
2020
Carrying
Fair value
amount
$
$

9,119,371
(1,073,654)
(12,347,010)
(551,908)

9,119,371
(1,073,654)
(12,347,010)
(551,908)

507,750
(179,444)
(10,926,618)
(229,210)

507,750
(179,444)
(10,926,618)
(229,210)

(4,853,201)

(4,853,201)

(10,827,522)

(10,827,522)

The Group’s policy for recognition of fair values is disclosed at note 1(w).

25.

ACQUISITIONS

In the prior financial year, the purchase of the Oracle Ridge Copper Mine in Arizona in the United States of America
was completed. The mine is held 100% within Wedgetail Operations LLC, which, at the beginning of the current
reporting period, was held 80% by Wedgetail Holdings LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The noncontrolling interest of 20% was held by Vincere Resource Holdings LLC (“Vincere”). Management accounted for
this transaction as an acquisition of assets and not as a business combination since, at the date of acquisition, the
Oracle Ridge Copper Mine did not have the processes and outputs expected of an operating business.
On 4 May 2021, Wedgetail Holdings LLC acquired the remaining 20% of the share capital of Wedgetail Operations
LLC from Vincere. The Company issued 10,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares to Vincere as consideration for the
additional 20% interest. At acquisition date, the fair value of the shares issued was $10,900,000. AASB 10
Consolidated Financial Statements states that changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in the parent losing control of the subsidiary are equity transactions (ie transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners). As such, the consideration and the change in non-controlling interest were transferred to
accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended 30 June 2021
26.

CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Eagle Mountain Mining Limited is the ultimate parent entity of the Group.
The following were controlled entities at the end of the financial year and have been included in the consolidated
financial statements:
Name

Silver Mountain
Mining Pty Ltd
Silver Mountain
Mining LLC
Silver Mountain
Mining Operations Inc
Wedgetail Arizona Pty
Ltd
Wedgetail Holdings
LLC
Wedgetail Operations
LLC

Country of
Incorporation
Australia
United States of
America
United States of
America
Australia
United States of
America
United States of
America

Date
acquired/incorporated

Percentage
Interest Held
20 21

Percentage
Interest Held
2020

7 December 2017

100%

100%

7 December 2017

100%

100%

18 January 2018

100%

100%

18 July 2019

100%

100%

25 June 2019

100%

100%

18 July 2019

100
0%

80%

Silver Mountain Mining LLC and Silver Mountain Mining Operations Inc are both 100% owned subsidiaries of Silver
Mountain Mining Pty Ltd.
Wedgetail Operations LLC and Wedgetail Holdings LLC are both 100% owned subsidiaries of Wedgetail Arizona
Pty Ltd.
The following amounts are payable by subsidiary companies to the parent company at the reporting date:

Name
Silver Mountain Mining Pty Ltd
Silver Mountain Mining LLC
Silver Mountain Mining Operations Inc
Wedgetail Holdings LLC

Amount due to
Eagle Mountain Mining Limited
202 1
2020
A$
A$
70,183
69,727
528,472
528,472
9,073,422
8,670,459
22,154,520
1,909,877

The loans to subsidiary companies are non-interest bearing and the Directors of Eagle Mountain Mining Limited
do not intend to call for repayment within 12 months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended 30 June 2021
27.

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

During the financial year, Wedgetail Holdings LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, increased its interest
in Wedgetail Operations LLC from 80% to 100%. The non-controlling interest (“NCI”) of 20% was previously held
by Vincere Resource Holdings LLC.
The following table summarises the NCI information relating to Wedgetail Operations LLC before any intra-group
eliminations.
30 June 2021
30 June 2020
Summarised Statement of Financial Position
A$
A$
NCI Percentage
0%
20%
Assets
Current assets
12,113
Non-current assets
10,147,738
Total Assets
10,159,851
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total Liabilities

-

692,309
9,275,357
9,967,666

Net Assets

-

192,185

A$

A$

(11,938,703)
33,780

(1,915,403)
46,236

(11,904,923)

(1,869,167)

(1,870,962)

(383,080)

18,273

9,247

A$
(8,736,291)
(249,050)
5,656,454

A$
(1,158,696)
(754,569)
1,171,090

(3,328,887)

(742,175)

Summarised Statement of Profit and Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income
Revenue
Loss before income tax
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for the year

Loss allocated to NCI
Other comprehensive income allocated to NCI
Summarised Statement of Cash Flows
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2021
28.

LOSS PER SHARE

Loss used in calculation of loss per share
Weighted average number of shares used in the
calculation of loss per share
Basic and diluted loss per share

30 June 2021
$(19,199,277)

30 June 2020
$(3,985,856)

158,953,944

108,321,041

(12.1 cents)

(3.7 cents)

Options and performance rights to acquire ordinary shares granted by the Company and not exercised at the
reporting date are included in the determination of diluted loss per share, to the extent that they are considered
dilutive.
There are 29,452,780 options and 35,000 performance rights on issue at 30 June 2021 (2020: 26,409,716 options
and 245,000 performance rights) that have not been considered in calculating diluted loss per share as they are
not considered to be dilutive to the reported earnings per share.

29.

PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION
Parent
30 June
20 21
A$

Parent
30 June
2020
A$

Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets1
Total Assets

8,246,999
-

226,699
2,981,224

8,246,999

3,207,923

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total Liabilities

1,539,720
125,436

1,662,667
117,895

1,665,156

1,780,562

Net Assets

6,581,843

1,427,361

45,601,593
4,500
8,268,608
(47,292,858)

15,322,265
4,500
1,105,348
(15,004,752)

6,581,843

1,427,361

(21,070,239)
-

(3,875,208)
-

(21,070,239)

(3,875,208)

Equity
Issued capital
Option capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Total Equity
Loss for the period1
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for the period
1The

Company has recognised a provision against the investment in subsidiary holdings to the extent that
parent company net assets exceed those of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended 30 June 2021
29.

PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION (continued)

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries
The parent entity is the guarantor in relation to the US$6,423,000 loan from Vincere Resource Holdings LLC
(“Vincere”). In addition, the parent entity has entered into a Guarantee of Performance with Vincere under which
the parent entity guarantees the full and timely performance of the conversion obligations under the note with
Vincere. Refer to note 13.

Contingent liabilities
The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020.

Commitments
The parent had no exploration or capital commitments as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020.

Accounting policies
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in
note 1.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
In the opinion of the Directors of Eagle Mountain Mining Limited (“the Company”)
(a)

the financial statements and notes set out on pages 58 to 94 are in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:
(i)

(ii)

complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other
mandatory professional reporting requirements which, as stated in accounting policy note 1
to the financial statements, constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and
give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of the performance
for the year ended on that date of the Group.

(b)

the remuneration disclosures that are contained in the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report
comply with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures, The Corporations Act
2001 and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

(c)

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable.

(d)

the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as set out in note 1.

The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.
Signed at Perth this 20th day of September 2021.

Rick Crabb
Chairman
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Eagle Mountain Mining Limited
Independent auditor’s report to members

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report
Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Eagle Mountain Mining Limited (the Company and
its subsidiaries (the Group)), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information, and the directors’ declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of
its financial performance for the year ended on that date; and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations
2001.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of
the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional
and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001,
which has been given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given
to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.
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Independent auditor’s report to members (continued)
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Acquisition of the remaining 20% interest in Wedgetail Operations LLC
Area of focus

How our audit addressed it

Refer also to note 25

During the current financial year,
Wedgetail Holdings LLC acquired the
remaining 20% of the share capital of
Wedgetail Operations LLC. The Directors
determined in accordance with AASB 10
Consolidated Financial Statements, as
there was no change in control of the
entity acquired, the transaction should be
treated as an equity transaction.
The Directors performed their assessment
in line with AASB 10 paragraph 23 which
states that changes in a parent’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary that do
not result in the parent losing control of
the subsidiary are equity transactions (i.e.
transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners).

Our audit procedures included:
— A review of the purchase and transfer
of membership agreement for the
acquisition of the remaining 20%
interest in Wedgetail Operations LLC
to evaluate the nature of the
acquisition.
— An evaluation of the Directors
assessment that the acquisition falls
under paragraph 23 of AASB 10.
— An assessment of the adequacy of the
Group’s disclosures in respect of the
acquisition.
We concluded that the treatment of the
acquisition of the remaining 20% of
Wedgetail Operations LLC as an equity
transaction was appropriate and in
accordance with the relevant Australian
Accounting Standards.
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Independent auditor’s report to members (continued)
Exploration costs capitalised
Area of focus

Refer also to notes 1(b), 1v(ii) and 8

The Group have recognised exploration
costs in relation the Group's exploration
programs at the Silver Mountain Project
and Oracle Ridge Copper Mine Project
located in Arizona, USA. There is a risk
that the capitalisation of exploration and
evaluation expenditure may exceed the
value in use.
An impairment review is only required if an
impairment trigger is identified.
Due to the nature of the resources
industry, indicators of impairment applying
the value in use model could include:
— Viability of the projects
— Changes to exploration plans and
permits
— Loss of rights to tenements
— Changes to reserve estimates

How our audit addressed it

Our audit procedures included:
— A review of the directors’ assessment
of the criteria for the capitalisation of
exploration expenditure and evaluation
as to whether there are any indicators
of impairment of capitalised costs.
— An assessment of viability of the
tenements and whether there were
any indicators of impairment of those
costs capitalised in the current period.
— An assessment of the adequacy of the
Group’s disclosures in respect of the
transactions.
We concluded that the recognition
treatment and impairment assessment
were in accordance with the relevant
Australian Accounting Standards.

— Costs of extraction and production
Share based payments
Area of focus

Refer also to notes 1(t), 1v(ii) and 14

The Group has entered into share-based
payment arrangements during the year.
The options were issued to provide long
term incentives for executives and
consultants to deliver long term
shareholder returns. Participation in the
plan was at the board’s discretion and no
individual has a contractual right to
participate in the plan or to receive any
guaranteed benefits.
This was a key audit matter because the
arrangements required significant
judgements and estimations by
management, including the following:
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How our audit addressed it

Our audit procedures included:
— Evaluating the grant dates based on
the terms and conditions of the sharebased payment arrangements;
— Evaluating the fair values of sharebased payment arrangements by
understanding and documenting the
assumptions used; and
— For the specific application of the
Black Scholes model, we assessed
the experience of Management in
preparing these calculations. We
retested some of the assumptions
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— The evaluation of the grant date of
each arrangement, and the evaluation
of the fair value of the underlying
share price of the Company as at the
grant date;
— The evaluation of key inputs into the
Black Scholes option pricing model,
including the significant judgment of
the forecast volatility of the share
option over its exercise period.
The results of these share-based payment
arrangements materially affect the
disclosures.

used in the model and recalculated
those fair values using volatility
applied in the model to be
appropriately reasonable and within
industry norms.
We also reconciled the vesting of the
share-based payment arrangements to
disclosures made in both the key
management personnel compensation
note and the disclosures in the
Remuneration Report.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021 but does not
include the financial report and the auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of
the Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.
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Independent auditor’s report to members (continued)
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of these financial statements is
located at the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at:
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf
This description forms part of our independent auditor’s report.

Report on the Remuneration Report
Opinion on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 48 to 55 of the directors’
report for the year ended 30 June 2021.
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Eagle Mountain Mining Limited, for the year
ended 30 June 2021, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

William Buck Audit (WA) Pty Ltd
ABN 67 125 012 124

Conley Manifis
Director
Date this day 20th of September 2021
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